
Adult Care and Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
Date: Tuesday, 20 March 2018
Time: 6.00 pm
Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Patrick Sebastian
Tel: 0151 691 8424
e-mail: patricksebastian@wirral.gov.uk
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. MINUTES                                                                         (Pages 1 - 12)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meetings held on 30 
January 2018 and 13 February 2018 (special meeting).

4. INDEPENDENT REVIEW OF THE WIRRAL PATIENT LED REPEAT 
ORDERING                                                                    (Pages 13 - 32)

5. COMMUNITY PHLEBOTOMY SERVICE UPDATE      (Pages 33 - 38)

6. FUTURE COMMISSIONING STRATEGY FOR PEOPLE WITH 
DISABILITIES                                                                (Pages 39 - 74)

7. THORN HEYS 

Verbal Update.

8. FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 3 2017/18 
(Pages 75 - 82)

9. 2017/18 QUARTER 3 WIRRAL PLAN AND HEALTH AND CARE 
PERFORMANCE                                                         (Pages 83 - 102)

10. EASTHAM WALK IN CENTRE - UPDATE               (Pages 103 - 104)

Public Document Pack



11. RESPONSE TO THE OMBUDSMAN'S REPORT RELATING TO THE 
MENTAL CAPACITY ACT                                         (Pages 105 - 132)

12. REVIEW OF DRAFT QUALITY ACCOUNTS - MAY 2018 
(Pages 133 - 136)

13. ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OSC - WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 
REPORT                                                                    (Pages 137 - 144)



ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 30 January 2018

Present: Councillor J McManus (Chair)

Councillors M McLaughlin
B Berry
W Clements
P Gilchrist
T Johnson
AER Jones
C Muspratt

T Norbury
T Pilgrim
P Stuart
I Williams
D Burgess-Joyce 
(In place of G Ellis)
C Povall (In place of 
L Rennie)
KJ Williams (In 
place of P Doughty)

41 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P Doughty, G Ellis, 
Lesley Rennie and David Jago, Acting Chief Executive, Wirral University 
Teaching Hospital.

42 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST / 
PARTY WHIP 

Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection with any item(s) on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state the nature of the interest.
 
Members were reminded that they should also declare whether they were 
subject to a party whip in connection with any item(s) to be considered and, if 
so, to declare it and state the nature of the whipping arrangement. The 
following declarations were made:

Councillor Phil Gilchrist Personal – by virtue of 
his role as a Governor 
appointed to the 
Cheshire and Wirral 
NHS Partnership Trust.

Councillor Adrian Jones Personal – by virtue of 
his wife’s employment 
within the NHS

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Councillor Tony Norbury Personal – by virtue of 
his sister’s work within 
Adult Social Care.

Councillor Christina Muspratt Personal – by virtue of 
her family member’s 
employment within the 
NHS.

43 MINUTES 

Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting of the committee held on 28 
November 2017, be confirmed as a correct record.

44 DYNAMIC PURCHASING SCHEME FOR CHC (NHS CONTINUING 
HEALTHCARE) BEDS - IMPACT 

Iain Stewart, Head of Direct Commissioning, NHS Wirral CCG introduced his 
report that provided an update on the introduction of a Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS).  The system had been introduced in June 2017 by the five 
Cheshire and Wirral CCGs with the aim of coordinating and ensuring 
consistency in the way in which nursing home and care at home services 
were procured for patients eligible for Continuing Healthcare funding.

Further to Minute 18, 13 September, 2017 Members had asked for a follow on 
report, with examples of how the system functions in Practice.  The report 
informed that since the last report was presented, the OSC Chair, 
Healthwatch Chief Officer and WUTH Associate Director of Nursing/Patient 
Experience Lead had visited Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning 
Support Unit’s Adam Placement Hub.  This visit had allowed them to see the 
system first hand, meet the team and ask any questions about its use for 
Wirral patients.

The report provided a chart of Wirral Patient Packages sourced to date 
through the DPS and members were informed that the range of providers was 
growing.

Members asked a number of questions relating to how the system would 
recognise the Wirral post code, whether patients were given a voice, the 
number of choices offered to patients and what would happen in the event 
that a Care Home fell below a quality rating of 80% on the Providers CQC 
inspection.  The Chair also commented that it would be useful if the 
Committee could have updated figures on the number of Care Home 
providers on a regular basis.

Resolved – That;

1 the report and presentation be noted.

Page 2



2 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be kept informed of 
updated figures on the number of Care Home providers on a 
regular basis.

45 DRAFT PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT (PNA) 

Julie Webster (Director for Health and Wellbeing) introduced her report and 
informed that Wirral’s Health & Wellbeing Board was undertaking a 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA), a legal, comprehensive, 
assessment of the current and future needs of local people for community 
pharmacy services.

In January 2017, the People Overview & Scrutiny Committee had considered 
the impacts to Community Pharmacies in the light of funding changes 
proposed by Government for community pharmacies in 2016/17. At that time 
members had been made aware of the impending statutory PNA review and 
the request for them to comment and submit views on the process for 
developing the PNA for 2018-21. As part of that process a public consultation 
was required to be held for a period of at least 60 days.  Members were 
informed that the consultation would close on Monday 5th February and 
members were asked to consider the draft PNA 2018-2021 and to submit any 
views as part of that statutory process.  Members were informed that the 
outcome would be published on the Council website by the end of March 
2018.  Initial feedback indicated that the response was overwhelmingly 
positive, there were no significant service gaps and that Wirral compared 
favourably both nationally and with neighbours.  Julie Webster also indicated 
that there had been an increase in the number of pharmacies located with GP 
surgeries which was a positive step.  It was further reported that no specific 
gaps had been identified and the situation would be kept under review.  A 
member commented that it would be helpful if members could be kept 
informed of pharmacies that had been added to surgeries and asked if this 
could be circulated to members.  Any feedback of coverage of pharmacies 
over the Christmas and New Year period was also requested and Julie 
Webster indicated that this was commissioned by NHSE and she would feed 
this request to the appropriated commissioner.

Resolved – That;

1 the report be noted.

2 where appropriate members be encouraged to submit views 
within the statutory consultation period

Page 3



46 ADULTS SAFEGUARDING ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 

Simon Garner (Lead Commissioner – All Age Independence, Health & Care, 
Wirral Council) introduced his report and presentation that provided members 
with the Wirral Safeguarding Adults Partnership Board Annual Report 
2016/17.  The report informed that this would be the final annual report for the 
former Wirral Safeguarding Adults Partnership Board as new arrangements 
for the combined Merseyside Safeguarding Adults Board, effective from 1 
April 2017, would include Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton and Wirral.  Simon 
Garner reminded members of the basis of the Board and its main objectives 
and noted that future reports would be presented by the Independent Chair of 
the Board.  Members raised concern why there was no mention of victims of 
abuse including domestic abuse and modern day slavery and noted that the 
Committee had previously asked for available data.  Graham Hodkinson, 
Director for Care & Health, informed that this was covered across Merseyside 
by the Protecting Vulnerable Adults Board and in response to members 
concerns gave assurances that the points raised by Members would be taken 
back.  Members suggested that this topic could be included in Member 
Training for this year.  Simon Garner provided an outline of the key 
achievements of the SAPB and outlined the new arrangements for the 
Merseyside Safeguarding Adults Board.

Resolved – That;

1 the report and presentation be noted.

2 this Committee continue to monitor the incidence of domestic 
abuse and modern day slavery.

47 SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH INTEGRATION 

Jason Oxley (Assistant Director, Health and Care, Wirral Council) and Val 
McGee (Chief Operating Officer, Wirral Community NHS Foundation Trust) 
introduced their report and presentation that, as requested by the Chair of the 
Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee, provided members with 
an update on the early progress of the Integrated Social Care service 
provided by Wirral Community NHS Foundation Trust (WCT) on behalf of 
Wirral Council. The report described progress from the perspective of both 
Wirral Council (as commissioner of the service) and WCT as the service 
provider.  The appendices to the report contained the Quarterly Performance 
Report, 100 Day Plan and Staff and Service User Feedback.

Jason Oxley (Assistant Director, Health and Care, Wirral Council) and Val 
McGee (Chief Operating Officer, Wirral Community NHS Trust) set out the 
background to the report and explained that Wirral Council was undergoing a 
major transformation in the way in which it provided social care services to 
local people. The Council recognised the benefits of integrating health and 

Page 4



care services and the opportunity that this brought to provide better, more 
joined up services to people who need them.  Integration made it possible for 
services to be developed more effectively to meet the needs of local 
residents. With social care and health staff working within one organisation it 
was possible to streamline assessment processes, reduce duplication of 
multiple professional involvements, and develop a single point of access and 
single social care and health support planning.

In March 2017 Cabinet had approved the creation of an integrated social care 
service for adults and older people and the transfer of services to WCT.  This 
had been implemented in June 2017. Under the new arrangement, WCT now 
provided statutory adult social care services on behalf of the Council under a 
contractual agreement. Services provided included the delivery of 
assessment, support planning and case management services for older 
people and adults.  The Council retained the care budget (budget of £57m) 
and market management duties, but commissioned WCT to carry out the 
statutory Care Act (2014) functions related to assessment and case 
management on its behalf. The functions mainly comprised of: assessment, 
support planning, care arrangement, review, case management, safeguarding 
and referral handling.  The Council retained the statutory duties.  Val McGee 
indicated that it was still early days and there was still a great deal of work to 
be done however the first 6 months showed a great deal of good progress 
and there were early signs of benefits.

Members raised a number of questions and thanked Jason Oxley and Val 
McGee for a very detailed report.  Councillor Wendy Clements indicated that 
she had taken a tour to look at the work of integrated services at WCT and 
had been pleased with the progress to date and Val McGee offered members 
of the Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee the 
opportunity to also do this if they wished.

Resolved – That;

1 the report and presentation be noted.

2 that members wishing to take up the offer of a visit to see the 
work of integrated health and care services at WCT contact Val 
McGee via Alan Veitch, Scrutiny Officer, in the first instance.

48 ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 
FEEDBACK FROM BUDGET WORKSHOP 

A report from the Chair presented the work of the Adult Care and Health 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee in relation to scrutinising the 2018/19 budget 
proposals.  This followed a workshop held on Tuesday 9th January for 
Members to explore in more detail the budget proposals being put forward 
that fall under the remit of this committee.  A report was included as an 

Page 5



appendix to the report.  The Adult Care and Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee was requested to acknowledge this report as its response to the 
2018/19 budget proposals to be referred to Cabinet as part of its 
considerations in developing any budget recommendation to Council.

Resolved – That;

1 Committee acknowledges this report as its response to the 
2018/19 budget proposals.

2 Committee refers this report to Cabinet as part of its 
considerations in developing any budget recommendation 
to Council.

49 ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 
WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE REPORT 

The Chair introduced her report that provided an update regarding progress 
made since the last Committee meeting held on 28 November 2017. The 
report informed that the current work programme was made up of a 
combination of scrutiny reviews, workshops, standing items and requested 
officer reports. The Chair advised that the agenda report provided the 
Committee with the opportunity to plan and regularly review its work across 
the municipal year. The current work programme for the Committee was 
attached as an appendix to the report. 
The Chair’s report highlighted a number of key points, namely:

Activity since the last meeting of the Committee 
 Respite Services Scrutiny Review; 
 Continuing Healthcare Funding (CHC) Scrutiny Review; 
 Budget Scrutiny 2018 / 19

Future activity
 Additional Committee meeting - it was proposed to hold an additional 

committee meeting on Tuesday 13 February 2018 (6.00pm) at which 
members would receive a progress report regarding the local delivery 
of the Five Year Forward View. 

 Spotlight session – Specialist Transport
 Universal Credit
 In order to strengthen the scrutiny of the performance of the health 

sector, the Chair raised the possibility of reintroducing the former 
Health and Care Performance Panel.  This proposal will be 
investigated further prior to the commencement of the 2018/19 
municipal year.

 Future commissioning strategy for people with disabilities

Resolved – That the Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme update for 2017/18 be noted.

Page 6



ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 13 February 2018

Present: Councillor J McManus (Chair)

Councillors M McLaughlin
B Berry
W Clements
P Doughty
P Gilchrist
T Johnson
AER Jones

C Muspratt
T Norbury
L Rennie
P Stuart
I Williams
I Lewis (In place of 
T Pilgrim)
D Burgess-Joyce 
(In place of G Ellis)

50 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Gerry Ellis and Tracey 
Pilgrim and Karen Howell, Chief Executive - NHS Community Foundation 
Trust.

51 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST / 
PARTY WHIP 

Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection with any item(s) on 
this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state the nature of the interest.
 
Members were reminded that they should also declare whether they were 
subject to a party whip in connection with any item(s) to be considered and, if 
so, to declare it and state the nature of the whipping arrangement. The 
following declarations were made:

Councillor Phil Gilchrist Personal – by virtue of his role as a Governor 
appointed to the Cheshire and Wirral NHS 
Partnership Trust.

52 LOCAL DELIVERY OF THE CHESHIRE AND MERSEYSIDE FIVE YEAR 
FORWARD VIEW - PROGRESS 

Mel Pickup, Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership Lead 
introduced her presentation that provided Members with an update on the 
scoping for Health and Care Partnership for Cheshire & Merseyside’s 

Public Document Pack

Page 7



Strategic Programmes, Place Based Care Systems and their Communications 
& Public and Partnership Engagement Plans.

Ms Pickup explained that her Partnership Lead (a voluntary role) 
encompassed a broad area of work associated with the plans for the NHS 
locally in addition to her pre-existing role as an NHS manager and registered 
nurse of 30 years standing. She informed that likewise, the majority of people 
involved in the strategic programme work, were also employed within the NHS 
and all were fully engaged and committed to the challenge of running a 
service that was currently struggling to meet demand. Ms Pickup added that 
financial pressures, combined with an ageing population and other factors 
meant that the current system would not be in a position to cope with 
expected demands without a significant increase in investment or changes to 
organisational structure and practice. Key factors included:

 Actions in respect of NHS England's document Five Year Forward 
View for the NHS was launched in October 2014 by Chief Executive 
Simon Stevens;

 Integration of Care – Primary and Secondary / G.P. and Community;
 Physical and Mental Health – addressing the issue of parity; and
 Health and Social Care.

Ms Pickup, Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership Lead then 
explained some of the failings and lessons learned from the recent earlier 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan proposals for the delivery of NHS 
change. She informed that it was clear that there had been insufficient 
engagement and the plan had been fundamentally flawed in this respect, 
leading to a pause/reset in the late summer of 2017 for Cheshire and 
Merseyside. Members were given a clear assurance that the current 
proposals would be taking a very different approach.

Referring to her presentation Ms Pickup explained how 80% of Health and 
Social Care happened at ‘Place’ level and would form a key strategic 
approach to integration of services where the needs of service users could be 
managed locally i.e. Place Based Care Systems.

Members noted that each Delivery Areas for key services would have named 
Senior Responsible Officers (SROs) and individual Programme Boards. Ms 
Pickup informed that as a result of the lessons learned from the recent earlier 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) proposals, all three elements to 
the Programme Scope i.e. Place Based Care Systems, Strategic Programmes 
and At Scale Delivery would have overarching Communications & Public and 
Partner Engagement at the core, providing assurance of a very different 
approach to that of the earlier STP programme.

Members were apprised of the key issues needing to be addressed in the 4 
Strategic Programme areas were as follows:

Page 8



 Acute Sustainability – difficulties in recruitment;
 Mental Health and Learning Difficulties – accepted need for 

improvement and finance;
 Carter at Scale – (Lord Carter’s recommendations was the analysis of 

metrics and benchmarks to identify significant unwarranted variation 
across organisations) i.e. consolidation of administrative, procurement, 
logistic function and operation; and

 Prevention at Scale – (public health, prevention and early intervention) 
i.e. living longer, interdependency of health and social care, healthier 
interventions and Place Based Care Systems.

Ms Pickup, Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care Partnership Lead 
proceeded to update the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the wider 
Place Based Care System for Cheshire and Merseyside that covered 9 local 
authority areas, detailing the pressures faced by Primary Care and how the 
model for ‘Place’ aimed to address governance arrangements in this area – 
‘doing it correctly, but doing it once’, rather than piecemeal.

Mr Simon Banks, Senior Responsible Officer for Wirral ‘Place’ (a voluntary 
role) then provided Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with 
information about the localities and neighbourhoods in the Plan and how 
‘Place’ in these circumstances matched the geographical Wirral Constituency 
boundaries, with additional smaller neighbourhood models set within those 
boundaries. He added that the Place Based Care Systems covered the 
following:

 Out of Hospital Models of Care;
 Primary Care Development and G.P. 5 Year Forward View;
 Care Models Facilitation and Support; and
 Documentation.

Mr Banks further informed how the focus on constituency boundaries would 
mean service plans would be organised in such a way as to be closer to users 
i.e. neighbourhood modelling, with interventions at local levels, empowering 
individuals in their choice of personalised treatment pathways.

Ms Pickup concluded her presentation re-affirming the obligation to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the recognition for more dialogue as 
the programme moves forward.

A number of Members commented that it was extremely unusual for the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to take a report or presentation without 
advance sight of their content. A Member stated that in terms of the STP, 
there had not been sufficient emphasis on ‘Place’ and that the lack of 
engagement with Councillors and the recent changes and reductions in 
service without adequate consultation had undermined trust. The Member 

Page 9



added that there was still work to do in rebuilding that trust, and any proposed 
changes to services would need to clearly demonstrate the impact on 
residents. Examples were provided of some specific services where Member 
had expressed concerns, that included:

 Phlebotomy – increased travel distances to the relocated service with 
longer waiting times resulting in a distinct deterioration in service for 
users.

 Ultrasound – previously a 2 week diagnostic turnaround, now in the 
region of 3 months.

 Musculoskeletal services – triage undertaken by Consultants, has 
resulted in increased delays.

 Physiotherapy – an average 6 week delay in access to treatment 
compared with previous arrangements. 

Mr Andrew Gibson, Cheshire and Merseyside Five Year Forward View 
Executive Chair informed the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that it was 
clearly better to progress some services at scale, but the bulk of care and 
treatment should be actioned at ‘Place’ i.e. local community level with 
services designed in partnership with residents, the local authority and the 
NHS. He added that as always all plans were bound by finance, but the 
current position could not continue, services were not providing joined up 
care, and a recruitment crisis had prevented the establishment of a best 
model of care fit for the current time.

Mr Simon Banks provided an update on the specific services raised and 
added that a draft Commissioning Study and Direction of Travel Document 
would be made available to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. He re-
affirmed the need to keep dialogue open and improve communications 
between the NHS team and the Council.

Members raised a number of issues that they would wish to see covered in 
future conversations and reports, that should include: 

 Results of the recent STP judicial review;
 NHS engagement with the Council;
 Understanding NHS financials and the funding gap;
 Insurance arrangements; and
 Detail regarding staffing levels (nursing staff and doctors). 

Debate continued with regard to Member engagement, public consultations, 
hospital location and configuration and the need and expectations for high 
quality care, when needed, and provided locally.

Members were informed that some areas mentioned were out of scope for the 
current programme, but details such as the 2018/19 financial settlement and 

Page 10



plan could be shared with Members through the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

A Member commented that there were conflicting arguments in respect the 
provision of local services and the need for centres of excellence, and asked if 
the provision of more money would help deliver the vision. The Committee 
noted that any additional funding would assist, but at present the financial 
pressures would remain.

Further discussions took place regarding the priority of local services, 
designed locally and some of the NHS strengths in terms of staff and 
examples of the right treatment in the right place at the right time. Members 
noted that A&E services acted as a barometer for a number of services, and it 
was vital to align Primary and Secondary Care, G.P.s and Acute Services to 
help the NHS provide the treatments that residents deserve and need. A 
Member stated in summary that it was all about the implementation, and that 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee wanted to see the detail.

The Chair suggested that it be beneficial to have a follow up meeting on this 
subject in the new Municipal Year, and reminded Members of a Spotlight 
Session planned for 21 February 2018 to look at the CCG Urgent Care 
Review.    

Resolved – That the presentation be noted.  

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



1

ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
20TH MARCH 2018

REPORT TITLE An Independent Review of the Wirral Patient Led 

Repeat Ordering

REPORT OF NHS Wirral CCG and Midlands and Lancashire 

Commissioning Support Unit Medicines Management 

and Optimisation Team

REPORT SUMMARY

Nationally an estimated £300 million of NHS prescribed medicines is wasted each year.  
This highlights the significant cost of unused medicines and the inefficiencies within the 
repeat prescription process.

Repeat prescriptions represent 60-75% of all prescriptions issued by GPs and 80% of 
prescribing costs.  NHS Wirral CCG spends approximately £60 million on prescribed drugs 
each year.  Out of this around £44 million is spent on repeat prescriptions.

In the Wirral approximately £2.2 million is wasted every year on unused or partially used 
medication.

In November 2016 NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) piloted the ‘patient 
led repeat ordering’ project in eight Wirral GP practices over a five month period.
 
The aim of the project was to reduce the high cost of wasted medication to the local health 
economy, to reduce medication stockpiling and to reduce the patient safety risks 
associated with unwanted medication.    
                                      
Following positive outcomes from the pilot, NHS Wirral CCG rolled out the project, from 
April 2017, to all 52 Wirral GP practices.

In June 2017 an update on the project was presented to the Adult Care and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee who requested that Wirral CCG provide a further report 
to the Committee in 6 months’ time, including patient feedback.

NHS Wirral CCG commissioned Healthwatch Wirral to carry out an independent review of 
patients experiences of the scheme, findings are to be presented to the committee on 20th 
March 2018.

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to note the 
contents of this report, provide feedback and any further requirements.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

In June 2017, following a presentation to the Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, NHS Wirral CCG were asked to provide a further report to the Committee in 6 
months’ time, including patient feedback.

Wirral CCG commissioned Healthwatch Wirral to undertake an independent review to 
establish the impact of the change in process and to highlight any improvements going 
forward.

Feedback is requested to ensure that Members are satisfied that the independent review 
has provided the required evidence needed.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

No other options were requested.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Drivers for Change

3.1.1 The Department of Health released evidence highlighting significant waste and 
inefficiencies in repeat prescribing - https://www.nao.org.uk/report/prescribing-
costs-in-primary-care/
Nationally it is estimated:

 £110 million worth of medicines are returned to pharmacies.
 £90 million worth of unused prescriptions are being stored in homes.
 £50 million worth of medicines are disposed of by care homes.
 £150 million worth of medicines waste is avoidable

3.1.2 NHS Wirral CCG spends around £60 million on prescribed drugs each year.  
Repeat prescriptions represent 60-75% of all prescriptions issued by GPs and 80% 
of prescribing costs.  This equates to an estimated £44 million which is spent on 
repeat prescriptions.

3.1.3 In the Wirral about £2.2 million is wasted every year on unused or partially used 
medication.

3.1.4 The successful adoption of the patient led ordering of repeat prescriptions in 2014 
by NHS Luton CCG and then in September 2016 by NHS South Sefton CCG and 
NHS Southport & Formby CCG.

3.2 What is Patient Led Ordering of Repeat Prescriptions?

3.2.1 Many Wirral residents have a 'repeat prescription' meaning that they can regularly 
receive certain medication without having to see their doctor each time. Some 
people have always ordered these repeat prescriptions themselves.  Others chose 
to use a pharmacy to order medicines on their behalf.  The only change with patient 
led ordering of repeat prescriptions is that, instead of using the pharmacy, people 
who are able to will order their repeat medication directly with the practice.

Page 14

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/prescribing-costs-in-primary-care/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/prescribing-costs-in-primary-care/
http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk/


3

3.2.2 Repeat prescription medication can be requested from the practice by a variety of 
methods including in person, online, via a smartphone app or by post.

3.2.3 GP practices no longer accept repeat prescription requests from pharmacies; 
however, the pharmacy can still collect the prescription and deliver the medication 
in the usual way.

3.2.4 Patients who are unable to order their own repeat medication, for example, if they 
have dementia or for people who don’t have any family or friend support can be 
excluded from the scheme and the pharmacy is able to order their medication on 
their behalf.

3.2.5 The aim of the change to patient led ordering of repeat prescriptions is to reduce the 
high cost, to the local health economy associated with medicine waste, to reduce 
stockpiling and to reduce the safety risk created with unwanted medicines being 
available in patients’ homes.  

3.2.6 A key benefit is putting patients in charge of ordering their repeat prescription This 
is because patients are best placed to know of any changes that have been made 
to their medicines and what medicines they have used in the past month, and can 
therefore order only what they need.

3.2.7 By patients taking control of the medicines they order, they can improve safety 
issues relating to medicines and reduce medicines waste at a time of significant 
financial challenge.

3.2.8 To summarise patients need to;
 Order their own prescriptions and only order what they need.
 Check medicines dispensed by the pharmacy or delivery driver, and ask them 

to take back anything that is not needed.
 Tell their doctor if they have stopped taking anything on their repeat 

prescription so the doctor can check if the item should stay on the prescription.
 Attend review appointments with their pharmacist or doctor to see if their 

medicines list is still meeting the patient’s needs, and is not causing problems 
or generating waste.

3.3 The Patient Led Ordering of Repeat Prescriptions Pilot

3.3.1 The patient led repeat ordering project was piloted by NHS Wirral Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) in eight Wirral GP practices over a five month period 
from November 2016 to March 2017. 

3.3.2 Following the pilot NHS Wirral CCG fully implemented the approach across all 
Wirral GP practices from April 2017.  Outcomes from the pilot showed that the 
average numbers of items prescribed on a monthly basis, in each pilot practice, after 
the implementation were significantly reduced compared to the period prior to 
implementation. On average a total of 2,500 fewer scripts were issued each month 
within the eight practices meaning that patients were only requesting the repeat 
medication that they needed.  Data showed an overall reduction in growth in 
dispensed items of around 1.2%.  

Page 15



4

3.3.3 To ensure patient safety support has been provided to practices to help them identify 
any areas for review.  NHS Wirral CCG and Midlands and Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit Medicines Management and Optimisation Team work 
very closely with the Wirral Local Pharmaceutical Committee and community 
pharmacies to improve patient care.  

3.3.4 In order to analyse the prescribing data and understand the amount of savings 
achieved during the pilot the prescribing data for the eight practices was compared 
to a group of non-pilot local practices with a similar patient demographic.  These 
controls showed no growth reduction in the same period.  Each practice’s average 
cost per item (obtained from ePACT) was used to estimate a cost saving.  The total 
estimated cost saving achieved across all eight practices was £20,824 per month. 
This equates to approximately £104,000 for the 5 months of the pilot.

3.3.5 To predict the estimated potential cost saving for full implementation across all 
Wirral practices it is useful to understand that the eight practices involved in the pilot 
cover 20% of the total Wirral population.  

3.3.6 The full pilot evaluation, which shows feedback from patients, GP practice staff and 
community pharmacies, is available on the NHS Wirral CCG website at: 
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-ordering-pilot-
evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf.  

3.4 Stakeholder Engagement

3.4.1 NHS Wirral CCG supported GP practices during implementation by providing a 
selection of resources for practices to use.  This included an implementation 
checklist, patient leaflets, suggested text for the practice website, key contact list 
and documentation to support the communication with community pharmacies.

3.4.2 Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit Medicines Management and 
Optimisation Team supported GP practices with in-depth staff training to ensure that 
all staff were fully aware of the change in process.  

3.4.3 Practices were advised to inform their patients of the change in process, at least a 
month before the change occurred.  Methods of communication included: sending a 
text message to those patients with mobile numbers on record, by using the patient 
information leaflets in the GP practice and in local pharmacies, by asking the 
pharmacy staff to inform patients verbally and by giving out leaflets with 
prescriptions.  The practices also used the television screens in the waiting room, 
posters, practice websites and reception and clinical staff to inform patients. 
Practices were also advised to consult their own patient participation group to agree 
the best process for patients.

3.4.4 NHS Wirral CCG and Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit 
Medicines Management and Optimisation Team and NHS Wirral CCG 
communicated important information to all Wirral pharmacies before and during 
implementation across Wirral via the Local Pharmaceutical Committee email 
distribution process.  As part of the full implementation across Wirral, the Midlands 
and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit Medicines Management and 
Optimisation Team carried out face to face visits to all Wirral community 

Page 16

https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf


5

pharmacies to ensure that key messages were communicated to the appropriate 
people and that the NHS Wirral CCG patient leaflets were delivered.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Summary of Performance of Repeat Ordering from Apr - Dec 1718 against baseline 
(Apr - Oct 1617) shows a cost avoidance of approximately £438,000.

NHS Wirral CCG will continue to monitor the scheme on a regular basis to review 
progress.

5.0     LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications as a result of this project.

6.0     RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

The implementation of the patient led repeat ordering scheme is business as usual 
for practice staff and community pharmacies with the aim of reducing the patient 
safety risks associated with unwanted medicines in the home.

Anecdotal evidence from practices has shown that, following implementation of this 
scheme, practice administration staff time has been freed up to focus on other 
areas of patient care within the practice.  One practice states they have saved a 
total of three days a week in practice staff time which enables the practice to have 
more staff available on the front desk to deal with patient queries..  This is due to an 
increase in online repeat medication requests which has resulted in a more efficient 
process within the practice.  

7.0     RELEVANT RISKS 

Risk assessments and supporting action plans were developed throughout the 
course of the pilot and analysed with the project group.  NHS Wirral CCG continues 
to review the scheme following implementation.

8.0     ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

Engagement and consultation will continue.  A significant amount of work has been 
carried out to date to ensure patients are aware of the new scheme but following the 
independent review by Healthwatch Wirral recommendations show that further work 
is needed to improve the process and support patient care.

9.0     EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

NHS Wirral CCG under took an Equality Analysis and Quality Impact Assessment 
as part of the pilot – please see the full pilot evaluation for further information.

10.0   FUTURE ACTIONS
           

Based on the recommendations from Healthwatch Wirral working group we would 
suggest the following actions:

Page 17



6

 Improved Communication;
o To establish details of how the practices have implemented the new 

process within the practice including communication with patients NHS 
Wirral CCG asked practices to complete a ‘repeat prescription ordering 
implementation report’ which will be reviewed.  If further communication 
to patients is required support will be given for this.

o Practices will be asked to continue to promote the message to patients 
to ‘only order what you need’ with an aim of reducing waste within the 
system.

o The CCG will continue to communicate with community pharmacies and 
ensure that practices inform patients of the available pharmacy services 
including a collection and delivery service if available.

o Patients who were excluded from the scheme will be reviewed to ensure 
that they require the pharmacy to order.

o To ensure that practices are aware the Midlands and Lancashire 
Commissioning Support Unit Medicines Management and Optimisation 
Team can provide medication reviews to patients as needed.

 Online/App Prescription Request Services 
o Support will be given to practices to establish which patients require 

help with setting up the online/app service which enables prescriptions 
to be requested without the need to visit the practice.

 Prescription Alignment Support 
o Practices can be provided with a form that patients can complete with 

support from the practice staff or their local community pharmacy to 
enable medication quantities to be aligned.

 Electronic Repeat Dispensing – The CCG will promote the national electronic 
repeat dispensing service which sees GPs approving up to 12 months’ worth of 
repeat prescriptions which are stored at the pharmacy and dispensed monthly.

 Further analysis is required to access ways to improve the financial results.  
Some other areas have achieved higher outcomes possibly due to the 
presence of a member of the practice team called a medicines coordinator who 
has an interest in prescribing and medicines management and who has had 
specific training to improve their skills in this area.  For example - Interim 
Results from 2 CCGs in Lancs are 4.5% above the expected reduction in 
items.  The difference may be due to the fact that they have Meds coordinators 
in every practice and maybe they intervene or can encourage their colleagues 
and staff to ask patients if they need all the items when they call. 

 Further patient analysis could include interviews with samples of patients who 
support and don’t support this scheme in order to ascertain areas for 
improvement.

Page 18



7

REPORT AUTHORS: Karen Prior, Chief Officer, Healthwatch Wirral
Tel: 0151 230 8957 
Email: Karen.Prior@healthwatchwirral.co.uk 

Elaine Evans, Project Officer, Healthwatch Wirral
Tel: 0151 230 8957 
Email: Elaine.evans@healthwatchwirral.co.uk

Abigail Cowan, Medicines optimisation Pharmacist, MLCSU 
Medicines Management and Optimisation Team
Telephone:  (0151) 541 5390
Email:   abigailcowan@nhs.net 

APPENDICES

Healthwatch Wirral – Independent Patient Review (January 2018) 

REFERENCE MATERIAL
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/prescribing-costs-in-primary-care/ (accessed on 15th 
February 2018).
The full pilot evaluation - https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-
ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf.  

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Patient Led Repeat Ordering in Wirral  - Adult Care and 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 28th June 2017

Page 19

mailto:Karen.Prior@healthwatchwirral.co.uk
mailto:Elaine.evans@healthwatchwirral.co.uk
mailto:abigailcowan@nhs.net
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/prescribing-costs-in-primary-care/
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

Independent Review

Patient Led Repeat Ordering of Prescriptions

January 2018

Page 21



2

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

Report on Patient Led Repeat Ordering.
22nd January 2018
Background 
The patient led repeat ordering project was piloted by NHS Wirral CCG 
in 8 Wirral GP practices for 5 months from Nov 2016 to March 2017.

The aim of the project was to reduce waste, medication stockpiling 
and the risks associated with unwanted medication.

The new policy has changed the way patients order their repeat 
prescription medication.  Patients request their medication direct from 
the GP e.g. in person or online rather than using the Pharmacy to 
manage their order. However, the pharmacy can still collect the 
prescription and deliver the medication.  The only change is how the 
patient orders.

The full evaluation is available on the CCG’s website at:- 
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-
ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf. 

Following the pilot, NHS Wirral CCG fully implemented the approach 
across all GP practices

Following the pilot from April 2017 the scheme was rolled out across 
all GP practices. Results show that the change in process has reduced 
the number of items prescribed.

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide independent feedback to NHS  
Wirral CCG and stakeholders following full implementation, about  
experiences and views of patients who have used the new system of 
ordering.

Page 22

https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf
https://www.wirralccg.nhs.uk/media/3793/final-patient-led-repeat-ordering-pilot-evaluation-oct-2017v3final.pdf


3

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

Methodology 

Nominated Healthwatch staff and volunteers visited 5 GP Practices to 
gather patient feedback.

The rationale for selecting the five practices was to have at least one 
practice in each of the four wards and also, following a review of the 
CCG patient complaints selecting the practices with the most patient 
complaints to ensure improvements could be made.
 

Healthwatch representatives were made very welcome at each of the 5 
practices.

The participating GP Practices were,                              

Name of Practice Date Pilot commenced 

Marine Lake GP Practice, West Kirby September 2017
Central Park GP Practice, Wallasey July 2017 
Liscard GP Practice, Wallasey September 2017
St Catherines GP Practice, Birkenhead October 2017 
The Orchard GP Practice, Bromborough November 2016

Healthwatch representatives introduced themselves at Reception and 
advised practice staff of the purpose their visit. They had a presence in 
the waiting areas of each GP Practice. When Healthwatch 
representatives approached patients they found that they were willing 
to talk and share their experiences.

Healthwatch spoke with 79 patients across the 5 sites during December 
2017 and January 2018. This number includes capturing experiences 
from 2 patients from Somerville and Riverside GP Practices 
respectively who were attending a specialist clinic at one of the 
participating practices.

Healthwatch Wirral representatives were able to spend quality time 
with patients allowing them time to discuss their experience and 
journey. 
  

Page 23



4

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

A survey comprising of 11 questions was used to encourage discussion 
and maximise the opportunity for feedback.
(See Appendix 1)
 
Patients were informed that no personal data would be collected and 
that the information they provided would be shared with the NHS 
Wirral CCG and Practices anonymously.             

Findings (79 responses gathered): See Appendix 2

Are you aware of the recent 
changes in this area to the 
repeat prescription ordering 
systems?

Do you agree with recent 
changes?

Have these changes affected 
you?

Yes: 66
No: 13

No: 39
Yes: 34
Don’t Know: 4
No Opinion: 1
N/A: 1

Yes: 51
No: 28

Following these changes which 
method do you use to request 
repeat medication from the GP 
practice?

Have you experienced any 
problems with obtaining your 
medication since the changes?

Do you believe the new system 
is better or worse?

In person: 31
Online: 17
On your mobile phone: 3
Post: 1
Fax: 0
Email: 0
Other: 0

Yes: 21
No: 31

Worse: 34
Better: 10
Don’t Know: 4
Neither: 2
Different: 1
N/A: 1
No Opinion: 1
Same: 1

Page 24



5

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

Do you think patients should 
take more responsibility for 
managing the ordering of their 
medication?

In the last 12 months, how 
many times have you received 
medicines that were not 
needed?

Do you think by making these 
changes waste will be 
reduced?

Yes: 65
No: 13
Don’t Know: 1

Never: 65
1-5: 14
5-10: 0
More than 10: 0

Yes: 49
No: 24
Don’t Know: 6

Do you believe the suggested 
changes to the ordering of 
repeat prescriptions will have 
a positive or negative impact 
on patient care?

Do you believe the changes 
have been communicated 
effectively?

Positive: 26
Negative: 34
Don’t Know: 11 
No Opinion: 2
Both: 1
N/A: 1
Neither: 1
Neutral: 1
No Difference: 1
Not Sure: 1

Yes: 24
No: 55

Most of the patients surveyed were aware of the changes but many 
were disappointed that they had heard from the Pharmacy or ‘by 
chance’ rather than from the practice that they were registered with.

Page 25



6

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

Approximately half of those surveyed agreed with the changes or had 
no opinion due to not having the opportunity to use the new system 
yet.

Some patients, who reported that the changes had effected them, 
were concerned about having to attend the practice twice in person to 
order and then return to collect their medication. This was not as 
convenient, particularly if they were elderly, disabled or lived a 
distance from the practice.

Many felt that they were not confident about using the on-line service, 
or did not have access to a computer, which resulted in them having to 
attend in person. 

A number of patients reported that they had had problems registering 
and using the on line service.                                                                                          
However, a number of patients reported that the online system was 
more convenient for them to use now.                                                                             
One person was delighted that her son could now manage her 
prescription order on her behalf using the online system.                     
Another stated that now they are using the new system they can order 
only the items they required on line. This can be done at any time 
convenient to them, evenings, weekends etc. Their intention now was 
to use up a stockpile of medicines they had acquired due to using the 
previous method of ordering through the Pharmacy.

A small number of patients were concerned that some of their 
medication items run out at different times, or they are only 
prescribed one month’s supply. They were concerned that this may 
result in having to attend the practice more frequently to order their 
medication.

Patients who believed that the new system was more efficient told 
Healthwatch that they could take control of their order. They 
understood that it should prevent stockpiling as some Pharmacies over 
order on occasions.                                                                                                      
One person reported that when they attended the Pharmacy to collect 

Page 26



7

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

medication it would often not be ready and it would be ordered twice 
resulting in be double amounts being prescribed on collection.

Healthwatch Wirral Recommendations from comments received 
from patients (See appendix 2)

 Assurances need to be gained from GP Practices that they are 
appropriately informing patients of the changes or that patients 
are being informed by the Pharmacy.

 Housebound patients should be made explicitly aware of the 
exemptions by their GP.

 Issues associated with patients accessing the on line service 
should be addressed.

 GP's who only prescribe 1 month supply of medication could 
consider prescribing 2 months as this may result in a reduction of 
their workload.

 Adjust patients prescription items, where possible, to ensure that 
all items run out at the same time thus reducing multiple visits 
by the patient to the Practice to requests repeat medication.

 Practices to continue to inform patients that they do not 
necessarily need to collect their medication from the practice if 
the pharmacy that they use are willing to collect and deliver 
medication for patients.

 Continue completing medication reviews to address any issues 
and to compliment the scheme.

 Continue and improve public engagement as it was evident that 
some patients were not aware of the new patient led 
prescription ordering system.

 Encourage patients or their carers to monitor their medication to 
enable them to be more efficient when requesting a further 
supply.         

 Consider allowing patients who cannot use the suggested 
methods of ordering, and may have difficulty in attending the 
practice, to phone the practice to order medication.

Page 27



8

E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\6\7\AI00042761\$w0k5rh3b.docx

Appendix

1.    

Patient Led Rpt 
Ordering Questionnaire

2. Comments received from patients about why they thought the        
new system was better or worse

Comments from 
patients

3. Patient Stories

Patient Story Patient Story

Acknowledgements

Healthwatch Wirral would like to take this opportunity to thank:-

 the staff at the 5 sites for their cooperation and help.
 the patients for taking the time to talk and feedback their 

experience.
 Healthwatch staff and volunteers who conducted the surveys at 

each practice.

Page 28



Breakdown of Patients Surveyed

Orchard x 19 patients surveyed                                                                                                                                  
8 patients reported that the new system is worse ( 42% )                                                                                                       
Those who made additional comments reported

3 responses were that the new system was more inconvenient particularly for people who do not 
drive

1 person reported that since using the new system part of their prescription was missed

 “it is difficult for older people”

“The other system was easier”

“It is more awkward”

“It is more trouble”

People who thought the system was better said

“The new on line system is better, easy to use and more efficient”

I have only just registered on line and have not used the system yet, but I think that it will be better 
and more convenient”

“ I have always ordered in person and think that the online system is better and more convenient 
however I tried to use the online system and it did not work. I will try again but I would really prefer 
to ring the practice to order my medication”

Changes Communicated effectively

11  - no (57%)

All who responded with a No reported that they only found out from the Pharmacy

8  -  yes (42%)

Somerville x 1patient surveyed                   1 person said that the new system is worse (100% )                                                                                                   
“Pharmacy Rpt ordering was more efficient – had problems ordering on the on line system and had 
to attend the practice “

Changes Communicated effectively

1 – No   Only found out by seeing a notice in the Pharmacy

Riverside x 1 patient                          1 person reported that new system was better  (100%)

Changes Communicated effectively

1-No  Only found out about new system when Pharmacy were unable to issue prescription

Page 29



Marine Lake x 25 patients     12 reported that the new system is worse (48%)

“I cannot use on line and I worry about older people who also cannot get on line or get to the 
surgery”

“there are sometimes delays as GP has to authorise medication and then they have to be delivered 
to me”

“Causes me stress, takes up more of GP time. I am worried if I run out of catheters and whether they 
will arrive on time”

“I thought that the Pharmacy ordering was very efficient and convenient”

“getting access on line is a problem for people who cannot afford a computer”

“new system may cause difficulty for people who have learning difficulties”

“Communication difficulties now, there have been several slip ups when my order does not get to 
the pharmacy whereas previously the pharmacy ordered my equipment and there were no 
problems”

“The new system is inconvenient for some patients and travel has increased”

“Could not pick up my medication from the Pharmacy, had to collect it from the GP”

“it was more convenient using the Pharmacy as now I have to make 2 journeys from my home in 
Meols to order my prescription in west Kirby then have  to go back to Meols”

“I live in Greasby and have to travel to West Kirby to order my medication. I have to order in person 
as I do not have a PC”

“The system is worse for people who do not have a computer”

“It is far easier to use the Pharmacy, it suited me better””

People who thought the system was better said

“The new system is better because you can take control of your order and it will stop stockpiling”

“I like the new on line system  because it means less travel for me. It is more convenient and easy to 
use”

“The new on line system is definitely better, it is more flexible and easy to manage” 

“the new on line system is better and I find it easy to use. People with learning difficulties may not 
find it easy and an alternative method should be made available for them”

“The new system is better for me but elderly people may not find it convenient”

“I find the new system better but it was difficult at first as the online system was not available on the 
start date”

Page 30



Changes Communicated effectively

No -18 (72%) A majority reported that they only found out at the Pharmacy

Yes – 7 (28%) All reported that they had seen a notice in the surgery or had been informed by staff

Central Park x19    9 reported that the new system is worse ( 47%)

It is less convenient now”

“It can be hard to get an appointment if you need medication and the doctor wants to see you”

“Occasionally I get the wrong item using the new system”

“It is rubbish! I have an extra journey now to order my medication “

“it was more convenient to obtain my medication from the pharmacy, there have been some delays 
using the new system”

“extra journey involved now!, I have been using the Pharmacy for years with no problems”

“It is difficult to get to my GP as I am physically disabled, I do not want to change my GP but I am 
worried about how I will get to the surgery to order my prescription. When I used the Pharmacy to 
order my prescriptions I felt more comfortable that I would never run out of medication.

“2 weeks ago I received a prescription from my Pharmacist so I have not had a problem but 
anticipate that I will have a problem as I worry about putting my prescription in on time. The old 
system was convenient and reassuring”

“The ordering system is now lengthier for me as I have to post in my request to the GP”

People who thought the system was better said

“It is more convenient”

“The new system is far better for me as my son has taken responsibility for ordering my medication 
on line. This has made life far easier for me as I cannot physically get to the surgery on my own”

“I was told by the Pharmacy that I could continue to order from them as I was housebound”

Changes Communicated effectively

No -13  (68%) A majority only found out from the Pharmacy

YES-6    (32%) Informed by practice

Liscard x 5    4 reported that the new system is worse (80%)

“Since using the new system some items that I have requested have been missed and I think that the 
new system is not as accessible”

“The new system is not as convenient for me”

Page 31



“ I have always ordered in person so the new system is no different to me but some  people may be 
inconvenienced”

“It is easier for me to use the Pharmacy”

People who thought the system was better said

“It is more controllable”

Changes Communicated effectively

No -5 (100%) All reported that they had been told by the Pharmacy

St Caths x 9                   3 reported that the new system is worse (33%)

“ I think that the new system is worse as I cannot use on line method and have to come in to the 
Surgery to order my prescription rather than ring the Pharmacy. However, I do think that the new 
system may prevent stockpiling as on several occasions using the Pharmacy I have received statins 
that I did not require at the time resulting in me having a stockpile of them. I would also suggest that 
GP’s should consider prescribing 2 months’ worth of medication rather than 4 weeks supply. This 
may reduce their workload”

“ Not sure whether the new system is better or worse yet as I have not used it. My experience so far 
is that it is harder as I had to sign on to use the online system ( before the Pharmacy did everything 
for me but using that system resulted in me having a stockpile of medication)  The positive note is 
that I can order on line at any time convenient to me, evenings, weekends etc and I can use up a 
stockpile of medicines that I have and only order that item when I need it”

“ I have difficulty in attending the practice to order medication now as I work. I preferred using the 
Pharmacy which was more convenient. However if it stops wastage it will be better for all”

“ Patients would appreciate having 2 monthly supply of prescriptions rather than monthly because 
you have to start thinking about ordering after only 2 weeks”

“ the old system was more convenient for me as after using the new system I have found that the 
order has not  been sent to the Pharmacy when I went to collect it”

People who thought the system was better said

“ Some Pharmacies over order, on occasions, when I attended the Pharmacy to collect my 
medication it would not be ready and it would be ordered twice. When I returned to collect it  there 
would be double the amounts. 

Changes Communicated effectively

No – 6 (66%) All repotred that they were informed  by the Pharmacy

Yes -3 (33%) All reported that they were informed by the Surgery

Page 32



1

ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
20 MARCH 2018

REPORT TITLE Community Phlebotomy Service Update 

REPORT OF Chief Officer, NHS Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group

REPORT SUMMARY

This report details current progress to date for the delivery of the Community Phlebotomy 
Service.  

In April 2017 GP Members demonstrated a high level of interest to deliver a GP practice-
led provision.  Subsequent GP member and public engagement was undertaken during 
May 2017. Findings from this engagement were used to inform the new service design. 

In December 2017, NHS Wirral CCG’s Governing Body approved the proposal of a GP 
practice led approach, subject to additional assurances being received from all GP 
practices, in addition to the completion of outline implementation plans.  

The commission is now about to enter the mobilisation phase, and is working towards a 1 
July 2018 start date.    

The Community Phlebotomy Service will support the Healthy Wirral agenda as part of the 
Wirral Plan 2020 by helping to support Wirral residents to keep as healthy as possible and 
reduce health inequalities.
 
This new service will have an impact upon all residents in all Wards within the Borough.

RECOMMENDATION

The Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to note the 
content of this report.  

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 During the April 2017 GP Members meeting, members demonstrated a level of 
appetite for a practice-led provision.  As a result further GP member engagement 
was undertaken to establish the wider level of interest. In addition, public 
engagement was also undertaken to inform service redesign.  

1.2 Due to the level of patient and member interest for practice-led delivery, the 
proposed procurement option was to disaggregate the existing annual total budget 
individually amongst all 52 Wirral GP practices to enable the delivery of a GP 
practice led service.

1.3 Existing contracts with Wirral Community NHS Trust and the ten practices who 
deliver the service independently have been extended until 30 June 2018, with the 
new service commencing on 1 July 2018. 

2.0 ENGAGEMENT  

2.1      Member Engagement 

  2.2 In May 2017, a survey of all GP member practices was undertaken to determine 
their preference for an in-house or alternative delivery model i.e. to continue with 
the existing hub delivery model.  Overall 55% (29) practices wanted to provide their 
own in-house service and 42% (22) opted for a hub service model.  3% (2) had no 
preference.  

2.3      Patient Engagement 

2.4 In May 2017, daytime and evening stakeholder events were held.  Feedback 
received informed the development of the revised service specification.   

2.5 A public survey was also undertaken in May 2017.  This engagement was 
supported by local partners and stakeholders such as, Healthwatch; WIRED and 
GP practices via patient participation groups.  A total of 505 responses were 
received. 

2.6     A summary of what was most important to patients is highlighted below;  

55% (277) To attend my local GP practice 
30% (150) To be able to walk into a venue at a day/time of choice
29% (148) Parking 
28% (139) To have a pre-booked appointment 
22% (112) To attend a venue of my choice
13% (65) Later appointments 
9% (46) Good transport links 

3.0 NEW SERVICE DESIGN 

3.1 The key changes to the new service provision following clinical and patient 
engagement are as follows: 

Page 34



3

 All practices will offer a combination of appointments and drop-in locations.  
These may be at a patient’s own practice or a neighbouring practice, depending 
upon the practice’s delivery model.

  Greater choice for patients.  

 All practices are responsible for paediatrics and home visits.  Currently this is 
varied across amongst practices delivering the service 

 Response timeframes have been adjusted following clinical engagement.    
Routine referrals will be seen within 5 working days of referral and urgent 
referrals will be seen within 2 working days of referral.  

 Opening hours to be extended from 8am with a potentially later opening time of 
6pm.  The proposed closing time is currently being considered in regards to the 
new delivery models and impact upon laboratory resources.    

 Maximum wait for patients at drop-in locations will be 30 minutes.  

4.0 COMMISSIONING APPROACH 

4.1 Following the GP member engagement, a significant number of member practices 
advised they wanted to either provide an independent in-house service for their 
patients or work collaboratively with their respective Federation for the service to be 
delivered on their behalf.

   
4.2 The total annual budget will be disaggregated amongst all 52 member practices as 

part of a Locally Commissioned Service, via a NHS Standard Contract.
  
4.3 In December 2017 Wirral CCG’s Governing Body approved the proposal of a GP 

Practice led service delivery model, subject to further assurance being received 
from practices and/or Federations for the areas of governance, service delivery, 
mobilisation and contract responsibilities.  In addition, outline implementation plans 
were requested from interested practices and Federations.  Engagement with the 
Local Medical Council has also undertaken throughout the commissioning process.  

5.0 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION

5.1 Outline implementation plans and assurance has been received from both Wirral 
GP Provider (GPW-Fed) Ltd and Primary Care Wirral Federation on behalf of their 
member practices.  In addition, individual plans have been received from: St 
Catherine’s Health Centre; Heatherlands Medical Centre; Hamilton Medical Centre 
and TCG Medical Services consisting of TG Medial Centre; Leasowe Primary Care 
Centre; Townfield Health Centre; Woodchurch Medical Centre and Prenton Medical 
Centre.  Where a practice has no interest to deliver the service themselves, they 
have worked with their respective Federation who will make arrangements to deliver 
the service on their behalf.

    
5.2 The commission is now in the phase of mobilisation.  NHS Wirral CCG is working 

closely with both the Wirral Community NHS Foundation Trust as current provider, 

Page 35



4

and the new providers to ensure service transition is as smooth as possible for 
patients.

  
5.3 The new service changes will be promoted and communicated to patients prior to 

and following service launch via patient participation groups; GP practices; CCG 
website and social media.

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The total annual budget of £798,709 will be disaggregated amongst the 52 
individual member practices.  

7.0  LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 NHS Wirral CCG has sought formal legal advice in regards to the adopted 
commissioning approach. 

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

8.1   NHS Wirral CCG has sought legal advice in regards to the position on TUPE 
(Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)).  NHS Wirral CCG also 
advised practices and Federations to seek independent advice regarding this 
matter.

8.2 One GP Federation is working in collaboration with the current provider - Wirral 
Community NHS Foundation Trust, and have co-designed their delivery model.  
This includes utilising existing Trust staffing resources, thus minimising any 
potential redundancy implications.  

8.3 Following the receipt of proposed delivery models, discussions are now being 
progressed with Wirral University Teaching Hospital Pathology Laboratory 
regarding the timely transfer and processing of blood samples in line with resources 
and wider considerations.  This may result in adjustments to the newly proposed 
closing time of 6pm to ensure blood samples are tested within clinical time 
restrictions.    

9.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

9.1 Risks and mitigating actions are being monitored and reviewed throughout the 
commissioning process. 

10.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

(a) Yes, an Equality Impact Statement has been completed. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Nesta Hawker 
(Director of Commissioning, Wirral CCG)
telephone:  (0151 651 0011)
email:   nesta.hawker@nhs.net

Page 36



5

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Not Applicable 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1

ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

REPORT TITLE Future Commissioning Strategy for People with a 
Disability

REPORT OF Jason Oxley
Assistant Director Health and Care, Wirral Council

REPORT SUMMARY

This report describes the approach that will be taken to the future commissioning of health, 
care and support services for people with a disability in Wirral.

The Wirral Plan sets out a commitment to protecting the most vulnerable and to Wirral 
residents who have a disability. The following Pledges within the Plan illustrate this: 

“People with disabilities live independently”, “Wirral Residents live healthier lives”, 
“Vulnerable children reach their full potential”, and “Older people live well”.  Several 
strategies underpin these pledges, with the main one for the future commissioning of 
health, care and support services for people with disabilities being the All Age Disability 
Strategy. 

This sets out three key priorities:

“All people with disabilities are well and live healthy lives”, “Young people and adults with 
disabilities have access to employment and are financially resilient”, and “All people with 
disabilities have choice and control over their lives”.

The strategy is available via the internet: 

(https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2111/all-age-disability-strategy.pdf) and is 
attached as an appendix (Appendix 1).

Nationally, there is a Transforming Care Programme which describes the need to develop 
alternative support for people with a disability in order that they can receive the support 
that they need to live independently in their own homes and within their own communities, 
with person centred care, rather than receiving more hospital based care or care in a 
clinical environment. This brings an opportunity to develop an increased preventative offer.

Work is underway to bring together a range of resources from Wirral Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and the Local Authority to create a single commissioner for 
Wirral. Working through formal shared arrangements and a Committee in Common, this 
body will ensure that the Council and the CCG can effectively deliver their Health and Care 
functions in a more joined up way.  This body will be responsible for commissioning health, 
care and support services to meet the needs of people with a disability in Wirral (among 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2111/all-age-disability-strategy.pdf


2

other functions), and will contribute to delivering the All Age Disability Strategy, the Wirral 
Plan Pledges and the Transforming Care Programme agenda.

This creates an opportunity for a truly joined up approach to planning and commissioning 
services for people in Wirral who have a disability. The report outlines some key areas 
where we intend to commission differently to both improve our offer to local people and to 
manage the increasing cost of adult social care.

RECOMMENDATION/S

It is recommended that the Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee note 
this report.

Page 40



3

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

N/A

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

N/A

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Health and social care services play an important role in enabling people with a 
disability to maintain independence and keep well in Wirral. The inter-dependency 
between health and care systems has become increasingly clear over recent years. 
Nationally, Councils are faced with increasing demand on social care services 
which presents as a challenge to meet within the available resources.  Local 
Authorities and NHS providers are increasingly working to integrate social care and 
health services locally to provide both sustainability and a better experience for 
people who use those services.

3.2 The creation of an integrated commissioning approach for health and care on Wirral 
will enable services to be commissioned through a single body fulfilling the statutory 
health and care functions of both the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG).  It will also enable strategic outcomes to be effectively delivered through a 
single planning framework and structure. This single commissioner initiative will 
enable the health and care system to use Wirral’s resources together to jointly 
create a sustainable health and care system.  Integrated commissioning will provide 
system leadership and a focus on outcomes for people with a disability alongside 
the Place Based Care arrangements that are emerging for Wirral.

3.3 Creating a single integrated commissioning organisation offers the opportunity to 
deliver a single comprehensive commissioning plan, and to make commissioning 
decisions that are in the interests of the whole system.  It should be noted, however, 
that the resource overall is currently under significant pressure.
Integrated commissioning arrangements are therefore expected to achieve:

 A focus on better health, care and wellbeing outcomes for the people of 
Wirral

 Commissioned outcomes and priorities will be fully aligned into a single plan 
 A greater ability to manage demand and secure efficiencies in service 

delivery, 

Future commissioning arrangements will be more effective in:

 Increasing value for the “Wirral Pound”
 Undertaking Care Market shaping and oversight;
 Commissioning a range of provision of high quality, appropriate services 

offering choice and control to residents;
 Ensuring continuity of care and preventing market failure;

Page 41



4

 Delivering integrated health and care to benefit people that require support;
 Driving partnership working;
 Promoting social inclusion, wellbeing, and with a focus on outcomes for 

people;
 Delivering an integrated whole system approach to supporting communities.

3.4 In November 2017 Cabinet approved the creation of a Joint Strategic 
Commissioning Board which would be a ‘committee in common’; being two 
separate bodies but which sit together at the same time and place, each being a 
consultee to the other in their decision making. It is intended that the Board will lead 
service commissioning on behalf of the statutory bodies, focus on commissioning 
for outcomes in the delivery of health, wellbeing and care services; and ensure that 
they perform effectively and deliver to the appropriate quality standards.

3.5 The Joint Strategic Commissioning Board will oversee the commissioning of 
services for people with a disability in Wirral. As we move towards this, every 
opportunity is being taken to work more collaboratively and to approach 
commissioning of services for people with a disability and complex needs jointly.

3.6 A joint commissioning plan for people with a disability or complex needs is being 
developed in order that there is oversight of all commissioning activity for services 
for people with a disability across the care and health system. For future 
commissioning initiatives, a single commissioner will be identified with responsibility 
for leading the activity on behalf of both the Local Authority and CCG. 
Commissioning activity for disability services will contribute to delivering the All Age 
Disability Strategy, the Wirral Plan Pledges and will link to the Transforming Care 
agenda.

3.7 Commissioning activity that is currently planned for people with a disability includes;

Extra Care Housing for people with disabilities
Currently there is no specific extra care housing in Wirral available to people with a 
learning disability or autism. We plan to commission a range of extra care housing 
over the next 2-3 years. New accommodation will be of a high standard and will  
ensure that people have their own front door, their own private space and access to 
communal areas. Accommodation will have on site 24/7 support. Care costs will be 
reduced by people moving out of their current over supported accommodation 
where they prefer more independent living and where they will benefit from having 
their own individual accommodation but with care on site for when they need it. This 
will enable some of the smaller, more traditional, supported living houses to be 
released. Several such properties have more costly care arrangements and also 
tend to carry vacancies which are sometimes hard to allocate to or are occupied by 
people who do not require the level of support within the property. 

Residential care for older people with a learning disability
There are a number of people with a learning disability who have lived in supported 
living arrangements for many years, but where they now have needs more related 
to their ageing than to their disability. Some people are no longer able to maximise 
the benefits of living in small supported living services in the community and have 
needs that are no longer compatible with others living within the same household. 
There have been examples of people who are no longer mobile, cannot use stairs 
or access the community who require more intensive support due to their current 

Page 42



5

care environment. A limited amount of residential care is to be commissioned which 
will allow older people with disabilities to receive care in the right environment and 
at the right level. Accommodation will be of a high standard with appropriate 
equipment in place to meet higher needs. This provision will be small to medium 
sized rather than larger residential care homes. It is expected that this will provide 
better and more cost effective care.

Outcome Based Commissioning for Supported Living
It is expected that there will continue to be a need for a significant amount of 
supported independent living provision. However, providers are currently not 
incentivised to work towards increased independence with people and to reduce 
their reliance on formal care arrangements. A model is being trialled which will 
incentivise providers by delivering sustained person centred outcomes for people 
and thus permanently reducing the amount of care that they need. This may result 
in increased hourly payments to providers who deliver good outcomes for people. 
Once trialled, a decision will be taken as to whether to roll this out more widely.

Preventative health interventions
It is expected that an increased range of preventative interventions will be 
developed with community health providers. This will offer intensive support at the 
time that people with a learning disability or autism need increased support to help 
them to manage their behaviour or to sustain their current care arrangements and 
avoid the need for either admission to hospital or to a more costly and restrictive 
care placement. Step up, step down and crisis support services are some 
examples.

Transition from childhood to adulthood whilst receiving support services.
Joint commissioning arrangements will make better use of available data from 
across the health and care system to understand the needs of people with a 
disability as they move into adult life. This may lead to a range of commissioning 
activities to ensure that we have the right offer for people when they need it.

Technological solutions
The benefits of rapidly developing technological solutions for people with support 
needs will be used more for people with a disability. Technology can support the 
assessment process and can also support people to get the help and care 
interventions at the time they need it. This will increase people’s independence and 
reduce reliance on continuous supervision by care staff where this is appropriate.

Exploration of a more regional approach to provision of care and support to people 
with a disability.
Opportunities are being scoped with the Liverpool City region and neighbouring 
Local Authorities to explore opportunities to commission differently to achieve better 
market and price sustainability, and to achieve efficiency in commissioning 
activities.

4  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 A single integrated approach to the future commissioning of services for people with 
a disability in Wirral will ensure the most effective use of the available resources 
within the care and health system.

Page 43



6

5 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The statutory duties placed on the Council will continue to rest with the Council and 
with the Council’s Director of Health and Care, Director of Public Health and 
Director of Children’s Services.

6 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

N/A

7 RELEVANT RISKS 

N/A

8 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
 

8.1 The Wirral Plan, All Age Disability Strategy and Transforming Care Programme 
have been subject to significant engagement and consultation. The arrangements 
for commissioning of services for people with a disability do not require consultation 
in themselves.

9 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There is no relevance to equality as the arrangements for commissioning services 
for people with a disability will achieve an overall improvement in the experience of 
people who use services.

REPORT AUTHOR: Jason Oxley
(Assistant Director Health and Care, Wirral Council).
telephone:  (0151 666 3624)
email:   jasonoxley@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1; All Age Disability Strategy

REFERENCE MATERIAL
N/A

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 44

mailto:jasonoxley@wirral.gov.uk


All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

1

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

All Age DisAbility strAtegy: 
PeoPle with DisAbilities  
live inDePenDently

Page 45



2

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

Contents

1.0 FoREWoRd 4

2.0 INTRoducTIoN 6

3.0 HoW HAS THIS STRATEgy bEEN dEvELoPEd? 8

4.0 WHAT WE KNoW  10

5.0 ouR PRIoRITIES 12

5.1 Priority one - All people with disabilities are well and live healthy lives 13

5.2  Priority two - young people and adults with disabilities have access to employment  
and are financially resilient 16

5.3 Priority three - All people with disabilities have choice and control over their lives 18

6.0 HoW WE WILL dELIvER THIS STRATEgy 20

7.0 coNcLuSIoN 26

8.0 STEERINg gRouP MEMbERS 27

9.0 SuPPoRTINg dELIvERy oF THIS STRATEgy 28

9.0 REFERENcES 29

Page 46



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

333

All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

Page 47



4

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

1.0 ForeworD

councillor chris Jones - 
Cabinet Member – Adult Social Care & Public Health 

I believe that living with a disability should 
never be a barrier to living a full, independent 
and successful life. We all have a moral 
imperative to make sure those Wirral residents 
with disabilities, their families and carers, are 
supported, empowered and enabled to live 
their lives to the full. 

To help us get there, I am proud to present 
Wirral’s All Age Disability Strategy. A first of  
its kind for Wirral, this partnership strategy  
has been produced to set out a clear plan for 
how people with a disability can be supported 
to improve their lives, their aspirations and  
their achievements no matter their age  
or background. 

An estimated 68,000 residents in Wirral have 
some form of disability: each and every one of 
those residents deserves to be able to access 
the support they need as they grow up, develop 
their skills and deal with life’s challenges and 
opportunities. This partnership strategy will 
help us to support them on their journey, 
making sure they can live independently and 
that they are inspired to aim higher; accessing 
additional care as and when they need it. 

Our goal with this strategy is to remove barriers 
for all types of disabilities, and to change our 
approach so that everything we do is focussed 
on the person; making sure they have the 
support they need throughout their lives to 
enable them to live their life to the full. It’s about 
being more joined up – across the partnership 
and all types of services – to ensure better 
provision of support. It’s also about making sure 
people are not categorised by age, by where 
they live or by their type of disability. 

The strategy is about people; of all ages, 
abilities and backgrounds; it is about all types 
of disability and how people can be supported 
to achieve their full potential. 

This strategy has been developed to  
celebrate disabled people and create more 
opportunities for them to share their 
knowledge and experience, making a full 
contribution to the communities in which they 
live. We know that when people are supported 
to develop their skills and pursue their 
interests, they are able to better manage their 
own lives, be independent and secure 
emotionally, physically and financially. 

Through a series of workshops and events 
people with disabilities from Wirral have told 
us what is important to them, and what they 
want us to change and improve. They have 
told us what their priorities are, and how they 
want to make sure they are active citizens, with 
the same choices and opportunities available 
to all residents. 

Being disabled should never be a barrier to 
living a full life. I am proud that through the 
work of this strategy, that statement will be 
true in Wirral. 

I encourage you to read this strategy and to 
get involved in helping us to create a Wirral 
that celebrates disabled people for the 
fantastic contribution they make in our 
communities, and enables us to take a range 
of positive actions to further improve their 
lives and experiences.

4
councillor chris Jones  

Page 48



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

55

All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

councillor chris Jones  
Page 49



6

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

2.0 introDUCtion

To deliver this strategy we will work with residents 
and a wide range of public, voluntary and 
community sector organisations to achieve the 
Pledge committed to in the Wirral Plan;

It is our aim to support more people with 
disabilities to increase their independence and to 
gain access to work, education and volunteering. 

To do this we are listening to people with 
disabilities to fully understand their needs 
and aspirations, how to best support them to 
be ready for work and to access employment 
opportunities over the next five years. 

6 Page 50



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

7

A disability is defined as ‘a physical or mental 
impairment that has a ‘substantial’ and 
‘long -term’ negative effect on a person’s 
ability to do normal daily activities’1. This 
strategy is for all people in Wirral who have any 
form of disability, their families and carers, with 
the emphasis on people being able to sustain 
their own health, build on their strengths and 
have their needs met in the best way, within their 
local communities where possible. 

We have identified three priorities  
which this strategy will achieve,  
to improve the lives of everyone  
in Wirral with a disability: 
•  All people with disabilities are well and  

live healthy lives 
•  All young people and adults with disabilities 

have access to employment and are  
financially resilient

•  All people with disabilities have choice 
and control over their lives 

our vision

By 2020 we want to support disabled people of 
all ages and their families to live, independent 
and happy lives, playing a full and active part in 
their communities.  

our Approach

Our approach will be focussed on improving 
people’s lives, focussed on breaking down 
barriers for people and between agencies and 
services, and on making sure people’s 
happiness, aspirations and achievements are 
never limited due to a disability. 

A person centred approach is about ensuring 
people have experiences they value: 

developing relationships, making choices, 
contributing, having valued roles and sharing 
ordinary places.2 These valued experiences are 
created by people’s own efforts and the efforts 
of friends, family, community members and 
service providers in ensuring community 
participation, promoting choice, supporting 
contribution, encouraging valued social roles  
and community presence.  

As informed through our engagement 
work, the partnership recognises that:

All disabled people and their families should 
have access to high quality information, advice 
and universal services to enable them to live as 
full and happy life as possible.

Most disabled people need prevention and 
early help at some point in their lives. This 
should be provided in the most seamless and 
holistic way possible through further integration 
and partnership working.

Some people need intervention through 
specialist or statutory services. Where this 
support is required this should be delivered in 
new, innovative ways to meet need, achieving 
better outcomes for disabled people and their 
families and provide good value for money. 

Implicit to this strategy is the  
vital role that carers play in 
enabling disabled people in 
Wirral to live within the 
community and lead fulfilling  
lives and that it is everybody’s 
business to ensure that all 
vulnerable people in Wirral  
are safeguarded from harm.

To deliver on our Pledge we must listen to people and fully understand 
their support needs and the best ways that these can be met. 

Page 51



8

3.0 how hAs  
this strAtegy  
been DeveloPeD?  

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

8 Page 52



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

9

In 2015 we held a range of  
events with different groups  
of people; their views were 
recorded, discussed and shared. 
This ensured that the voice of 
disabled people, their families 
and carers drove the priorities 
within this strategy. 

This strategy has also been developed in 
consultation with health and social care 
professionals, and a range of public, voluntary 
and community sector organisations, including 
care and support providers.

The All Age Disability Partnership Board, who 
meet on a regular basis and will be responsible 
for the delivery of the strategy, have overseen 
the strategy throughout development and 
ensured that all of the insight from 
consultation has been taken into 
consideration. Current membership of the 
partnership board is outlined within Section 8 
of this document.

It is envisaged that the membership of this 
board will be expanded over the life of the 
strategy to ensure that all partners who can 
contribute to the delivery of the key priorities 
are included.

The main focus in developing this strategy has 
been to ensure that disabled people in Wirral, 
and the organisations and people who 
support them, have shaped the key priority 
areas and support the work that will take place 
in order to achieve them. 

Page 53



10

 

4.0 whAt we Know   

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

10 Page 54



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

11

there Are AroUnD  
40,340 inFormAl CArers 

ProviDing suPPort for DisAbleD PeoPle in 
wirrAl incluDing young cArers who look 

After DisAbleD PArents/relAtives.5

AccorDing to the lAbour force survey, 

DisAbleD PeoPle Are now more likely to be 

emPloyeD thAn they were in 2002, but 

DisAbleD 
PeoPle remAin 
signiFiCAntly 

less liKely to be 
in emPloyment 

thAn non-
DisAbleD PeoPle3.

the PrevAlenCe 
oF DisAbility 

rises with Age. 

nAtionAlly, ArounD 6% of chilDren Are DisAbleD, 

comPAreD to 16% of working Age ADults 

AnD 45% of ADults over stAte Pension Age.3 

the emPloyment rAte of PeoPle AgeD  
16-64 who Are equAlity Act core or work 

limiting DisAbleD in wirrAl is currently 

37.5% ComPAreD to 
49.8% nAtionAlly.6 

PeoPle in wirrAl with A long term 
heAlth conDition, on AverAge,

 hAve A lower 
qUAlity oF liFe sCore 
when ComPAreD to 

the rest oF englAnD.7

in wirrAl, 

66.7% oF PeoPle 
with A long term 

ConDition Feel 
sUPPorteD to mAnAge 

their ConDition
 comPAreD to An All-englAnD figure of 64.6%7 

by 2030 it is estimAteD thAt ArounD 

64,000 ADUlts 
(18+) in wirrAl 
will hAve some 

Form oF limiting 
long term illness 

or DisAbility
thAt woulD be ArounD 1 in 4 of 
the ProjecteD ADult PoPulAtion.4

DisAbleD PeoPle Are 
signiFiCAntly more 
liKely to be viCtims 
oF Crime thAn non-

DisAbleD PeoPle. 

this gAP is lArgest Amongst 16-34 yeAr-olDs  
where 39% of DisAbleD PeoPle rePorteD 

hAving been A victim of crime comPAreD 
to 28% of non-DisAbleD PeoPle3.Page 55



12

 

5.0 oUr Priorities   

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

12 Page 56



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

13

5.1  Priority one - All people with 
disabilities are well and live  
healthy lives

disabled People told us it is        
important that they have the same 
opportunities as everyone else to       
live a happy life with the best possible 
health outcomes. 

Where support is required by statutory or 
specialist services, this should be provided in  
a seamless and holistic way no matter what  
stage in life support is required. It is also 
important that carers in Wirral are properly 
supported to ensure that they have a good 
quality of life and are able to maintain their  
vital caring role.

Children, young people, adults and older 
people with disabilities should have equal 
access to health services, with prompt support 
from high quality specialist services, where 
required, to improve health outcomes and 
reduce health inequalities. Early advice, 
information and support are important for 
parents with a disabled baby or toddler to 
ensure the best possible start in life. This may 
include, for example, social work intervention, 
where needed, signposting to relevant support 
agencies and organisations, childcare or 
respite provision. Effective ‘Early Help’ will 
resolve problems before they become 
overwhelming and require high cost, reactive 
services. 

The range of housing options available for 
disabled people can sometimes be limited. By 
working together with partners in the public 
and private sector we can identify 
opportunities to enable disabled people to 
have more choice and control over where they 
want to live, including the opportunity to live as 
tenants or own their own homes.  

People with disabilities are often more 
vulnerable than the general population.   
Some people are more likely to suffer abuse 
and neglect, as well as be bullied and suffer 
hate crime.

We want all disabled people in Wirral to be 
protected from crime, abuse and neglect,  
and care should always be given with dignity 
and respect.

What do we already know?

• Wirral Council Social Services provide long 
term support to around 4208 adults and 
children in Wirral with physical, sensory 
and learning disabilities, mainly through 
community based services but also 
through nursing and residential care;

• 151 disabled people in Wirral are 
supported in residential placements; 

• In the UK, 1.9 million households contain at 
least 1 person who feel that their condition 
means that they require some form of 
adaptation to their home8;

• Disabled people are significantly more 
likely to be victims of crime than non-
disabled people. National data suggests 
that this gap is largest amongst 16-34 
year-olds where 39% of disabled people 
reported having been a victim of crime 
compared to 28% of non-disabled people3.

• Feeling happy is a really important part of 
Mental Wellbeing along with contentment, 
enjoyment, confidence and engagement 
self-esteem and self-confidence.  This 
strategy aims to create a Wirral where all of 
these factors are seen as essential to 
people’s lives.

Page 57



14

What have we been told by disabled 
people, their families, carers and 
organisations who support them?

Children with disabilities should have the best 
start in life, including access to:

• a range of inclusive play opportunities

• good quality, affordable public transport; 
and

• good quality day care and Early Year’s 
opportunities.

 
All people with disabilities should:

• have access to good and timely healthcare;

• be safe, and feel safe, in their communities;

• have access to housing that is appropriate 
to their needs; and

• receive respectful and dignified end of  
life care.

There should be a lead commissioner who is 
accountable for delivering the ambitious 
programme of change over the next few years 
and help ensure consistency and remove 
artificial age related barriers.

How are we going to get there?

Further work will take place to get a better 
picture of disability in Wirral and what it means 
to people to be disabled. This will help to 
ensure effective and appropriate provision of 
support across the borough; we will therefore 
work as a partnership to develop and agree a 
robust method of capturing this data from the 
variety of sources available to us. 

We will provide more seamless and holistic 
support to disabled people and their families, 
put in place an all age integrated disability 
service in Wirral and explore further 
opportunities for better sharing of information 
between all agencies. 

We will work with partners to ensure that all 
commissioned and non-commissioned 
services and activities are provided in the 
advice and support offer to disabled people, 
their families and carers.

We will ensure that housing options for 
disabled people are enhanced through the 
delivery of additional extra care homes and 
increasing the use of equipment and 
adaptations to enable people to remain 
independent. We will also continue to work 
with the most vulnerable clients to ensure that 
they can access the most appropriate housing 
to meet their needs.

Explore the feasibility of appointing a lead 
commissioner for disabled people who is 
accountable for delivering the ambitious 
programme of change over the next few years 
and help ensure consistency and remove 
artificial age related barriers throughout the 
support offer.

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

Page 58



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

15

To support carers to maintain their quality of 
life and their vital caring role, we will work in 
partnership to develop innovative ways to 
continue provision of short breaks and respite 
placements for children and adults, and ensure 
close links with the delivery board for the 
Carers Strategy. 

We will link with the Early Help Strategic Board, 
to strengthen the early help offer for parents 
of children diagnosed with a physical, sensory 
or learning disability, the Community Safety 
Partnership, to explore ways to support people 
with disabilities to report incidences of hate 
crime, and with the ‘Domestic Abuse and 
Harmful Practices Steering Group’, to develop 
initiatives to further ensure that people with 
disabilities are protected from harm, as far     
as possible.

How will we measure if we are getting  
this right?

• There will be an improvement in the health 
related quality of life for people with long 
term conditions (NHS Outcomes 
Framework)

• There will be an improvement in the quality 
of support provided to children with 
disabilities (Survey to be developed to 
capture this)

• 300 new extra care housing scheme 
placements will be developed by  
March 2020

 
case Study –  
Living Independently 

Stuart, Ryan, Jonathan and Steve* have 
learning disabilities and became firm  
friends when they met in residential  
college. When they finished college they 
were keen to move on to accommodation 
that would maximise their independence 
and allow them to maintain their  
close friendship. 

Through close working with a social  
landlord, two houses were found located 
next to each other which could 
accommodate the four friends. This living 
situation has meant that the daily support 
they require can be shared between them 
which has significantly reduced the cost 
when compared to living alone or in  
a residential placement, but has also  
meant that their independence and  
quality of life can be maximised. 

The young men are now settled in their 
accommodation, have developed their  
daily living and social skills, and with their 
new found independence , are enjoying  
living and contributing to their  
local community.

* Names changed to protect identity

Page 59



16

5.2  Priority Two - young people and   
adults with disabilities have  
access to employment and are 
financially resilient

 
People with disabilities have told us  
they should have the same access  
to education and work as all citizens  
in the community. Many people with 
disabilities are seen as a ‘client’ or 
someone who needs help; this can 
sometimes mean that employers do  
not see their potential as a positive 
contributor to their organisation. 
Everyone has a unique contribution  
to make and when this unique 
contribution is recognised people  
will feel, and be valued.  

 
We will work as a partnership to support 
disabled people, from an early age, to be 
recognised for their unique contribution, rather 
than just their disability, and be offered the 
choice to pursue their own goals and interests, 
which should in turn lead to an increase in 
attainment and the rate of disabled people in 
employment.

Volunteering is a fantastic way to connect 
people with their communities, increase skills 
and confidence and can often lead to 
employment. The partnership will continue    
to develop suitable volunteering opportunities    
in Wirral and support people to find the      
right one.

What do we already know?

• According to the Labour Force Survey, at a 
national level disabled people are now 
more likely to be employed than they were 
in 2002, but disabled people remain 
significantly less likely to be in employment 
than non-disabled people3

• Around 5.5% of the Wirral Council 
workforce have some form of disability

• Disabled people are around 3 times as 
likely not to hold any qualifications 

compared to non-disabled people, and 
around half as likely to hold a degree-level 
qualification;9

• Nationally, around 19.2% of working age 
disabled people do not hold any formal 
qualification, compared to 6.5% of working 
age non-disabled people and 14.9% of 
working age disabled people hold degree-
level qualifications compared to 28.1% of 
working age non-disabled people3

• At a National level, disabled people are less 
likely to engage in formal volunteering. In 
2010 to 2011, 23% of disabled people 
engaged in formal volunteering at least 
once a month, compared with 25% of 
non-disabled people3

• In Wirral there are a significantly greater 
proportion of children with a Statement of 
Educational Need (SEN) educated in special 
schools when compared to the rest of 
England – in 2014 63% of pupils with a SEN 
in Wirral attended a special school, 
compared to 45% in England as a whole.

How are we going to get there?

We will consider innovative, collaborative 
approaches to enable more disabled people  
to access employment – including working  
in collaboration with Jobcentre plus and  
local employers. This will include mapping out 
and promoting the support that is available to 
support organisations when employing people 
with disabilities.

We will ensure that as we commission future 
services across the partnership, it is a priority 
requirement within the service specification  
to identify opportunities for disabled people  
to access mainstream employment.

We will ensure that there is a focus on 
employment and volunteering within the 
Annual Review for Young People with 
disabilities in schools from year 9 onwards and 
within the assessment, support and care 
planning process for disabled adults,  
where appropriate.

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

Page 60



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

17

 
case Study –  
best bites

Best Bites offers a unique service to adults 
with learning disabilities, physical 
disabilities or mental health issues to gain 
skills, knowledge and qualifications in a real 
working environment. The training facility 
provides a two year placement and initially 
started as Beaconsfield Executive 
Sandwich Traders in 2007. Due to its 
success Best Bites expanded in March 
2010 into an innovative restaurant 
provider.

Bill* is a 50-year-old man who was 
supported by day services and living in 
semi-supported accommodation. With 
limited social contacts, Bill wanted to 
increase his circle of friends and be more 
independent but had a quiet disposition 
and lacked confidence in social and work 
environments.

With support from the Best Bites team to 
develop his skills, Bill began to work in the 
kitchen as part of a team. He was soon 
interacting with his colleagues and 
developing good relationships.

 
 

Tasks were broken down to enable Bill to 
gain knowledge, skills and the theory 
behind his work. When Bill became 
frustrated the team used coaching and 
mentoring skills to enable him to develop 
techniques to help him overcome these 
issues. As Bill’s confidence and enthusiasm 
increased, he worked alongside the Best 
Bites team in organising outside catering 
and hospitality and can now adapt to any 
social setting with support from staff.

Bill completed the Food and Beverage NVQ 
Level 1, including Food Hygiene to meet 
the standards of ‘Good Food Better 
Practice’ and to meet the standards of the 
Food Standards Agency. He was then 
supported to explore suitable employment 
venues to meet his needs, and to develop 
interview skills. Bill was successful in 
gaining a position and now works in a 
community café on a part-time paid basis.

* Name changed to protect identity

How will we measure if we are getting  
this right?

• Employment rate aged 16-64 - EA core or 
work-limiting disabled

• Indicator/s around educational attainment 
for people with disabilities                           
(to be developed)

• The number of people with a disability  
who express an interest in volunteering 
and the number who then go on to be 
placed (to be developed with Community 
Action Wirral).

Page 61



18

5.3  Priority Three - All people with 
disabilities have choice and control 
over their lives

disabled people, their families and 
carers have told us that they should 
have choice and control over how  
they live, learn, work and play and  
have the same opportunities as 
everyone else in their community.  

Disability shouldn’t define who someone is –  
a disabled person should have the same 
opportunity to pursue their interests as 
everyone else. Even if there is an extensive list 
of service provision and activities to choose 
from, a list is still restrictive as everyone is 
unique and will have their own unique goals 
and interests. 

The more that people with disabilities can 
share common typical space with others, the 
more they are known for the individual they 
are, instead of being seen as part of a group of 
disabled people. More often than not people 
with disabilities are limited to relationships of 
circumstance and often, those “circumstances” 
are narrowed down to one small aspect of 
their personhood: disability. 

The current service offer can often mean that 
people with disabilities only socialise in groups 
of other people with disabilities, only have 
relationships with other people with 
disabilities, only play sports with other people 
with disabilities etc. We need to work as a 
partnership to help people to expand their 
relationships beyond “disability”. We all have 
some relationships of circumstance, like those 
we have with neighbours, co-workers and 
family, but the very best relationships are often 
those we choose or happen into.10 

What do we already know?

• Nationally, over 1 in 4 disabled people say 
that they frequently do not have choice 
and control over their daily lives;3

• Nationally, 75% of adults with an 
impairment experience barriers to using 
transport, compared to 60% of adults 
without impairment. The 4 transport types 
included in the study are: motor vehicles 
(44%), local buses (52%), long distance 
trains (51%), and taxis/minicabs (43%). Cost 
is the most common barrier to transport in 
all transport types.11 

What have we been told by disabled 
people, their families, carers and 
organisations who support them?

All people with disabilities should be able to 
make choices and have control of their lives if 
they want to.

People with disabilities should have access to 
opportunities in their communities which 
enable them to make friends, have fun and 
pursue their interests.

People with disabilities and their families need 
to have a stronger voice.

How are we going to get there?

• To ensure choice and control in their care 
and support, we will increase the number 
of disabled people accessing personal 
budgets, personal health budgets and 
direct payments.

• To help improve value for money for 
people with personal budgets, work will 
take place to reduce the current disparity 
in charging that has been identified 
between children and adult support 
services. We will also explore opportunities 
for disabled people in receipt of personal 
budgets to pool their funds, if they would 
like to, to enable them to take part in a 
wider range of activities, hobbies and 
leisure as a group to increase social 
interaction. 

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

Page 62



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

19

• We will work in partnership with disabled 
people, their families and carers to ensure 
that they play an active part in influencing 
the planning, commissioning and delivery 
of services and strengthen self-advocacy. 

• The partnership board will link with the 
delivery board for the Aging Well in Wirral 
Strategy and Merseytravel to explore 
opportunities through the step programme 
to improve access to transport and 
maximise the benefits of the scheme. Work 
will also take place as a partnership to 
reduce the barriers to disabled people 
getting out and about in their communities 
on foot, for example looking at innovative 
ways to redesign the use of street furniture 
to support people with sensory 
impairments, etc.

How we will measure if we’re getting          
it right?

• Take up of personalised budgets by 
children and adults in Wirral (Wirral Council 
and Wirral CCG)

• Indicator to be developed to capture 
perceptions of choice and control 

• The number of ‘Disability Go’ venue 
accessibility audits completed in Wirral

case Study –  
Active All Sports Leisure Programme

The Active All Sport Leisure Programme 
(AASLP) is part of the Wirral Sport 
Development Unit. The programme  
provides sport and leisure activities for 
children and young people aged 5-25 years 
who have a range of disabilities. From  
April 2013 – April 2015 the programme 
supported over 520 children and  
young people. 

One of the main aims of the programme  
is to improve relationships with sports  
clubs and other providers creating 

participation pathways, increasing 
integration and embedding equality.

The sessions offer a mixture of sports  
and leisure activities with the aim of 
developing fundamental physical skills, 
self-esteem and confidence, greater 
independence, reduced social isolation  
and overall improvements in the health  
and wellbeing of participants.  

Joe* has been attending the Active All  
Sports Programme since 2011. When Joe  
first accessed the programme he was  
very quiet and shy and his mum often 
described him as having very little or no 
confidence. Joe insisted on his mum  
staying with him throughout all activities  
and sessions and struggled to mix  
socially. Members of staff discussed Joe’s 
difficulties with his parents and developed 
ways to help him feel at ease during the 
sessions. Joe’s confidence gradually 
increased and eventually he felt  
comfortable with his mum leaving him  
alone at the sessions and made a number  
of friends. Joe is now a volunteer for the 
programme; assisting with delivery tasks  
and on other Sports Development  
Projects. He is also due to start his  
Duke of Edinburgh Award.

Feedback from Joe’s Mum: “Joe loves 
attending the Saturday session and the 
holiday programmes. He looks forward to 
coming and his confidence has improved  
so much. He is a happier child because of 
the programme. He is doing better in  
school as he communicates better with 
teachers and socially interacts more with  
the children in his class. He has developed  
as lovely friendship group through the 
programme and also socialises with these 
friends outside of the sessions and out  
of school. I am so thrilled with his  
progress and we truly appreciate the work  
of the team and their fight for inclusion 
for our kids.”

* Name changed to protect identityPage 63



20

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

6.0 how we will Deliver this strAtegy  

The ‘All Age Disability’ Strategy provides a clear 
overarching framework for partners to work 
collectively and make a real difference in each 
of the key priority areas. As outlined in the 
introduction section there will be a number of 
strategies linked to this which focus on the more 
specialist activities required to support people 
with specific types of disability.  

The All Age Disability Partnership Board will have 
overall responsibility for further developing and 
delivering upon the actions outlined within this 
strategy. The actions that have been identified 
throughout this strategy are outlined within 
section 6.1 below. An annual review of the 
strategy will take place assessing progress on 
each of the actions and reporting outcomes that 
have been achieved through the delivery of this 
strategy using the performance data outlined in 
section 6.2.

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

Page 64



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

21

 6.1 Action Plan

Action           by When

Priority one: children, young people, adults and older people  
with disabilities are well and live healthy lives

Work as a partnership to develop and agree a robust method of  
capturing data around the prevalence of disability in Wirral     March 2017

Implement an All Age Integrated Disability Service in Wirral    April 2017

Explore opportunities for better sharing of information between all  
agencies in the partnership to provide more seamless and holistic  
support to disabled people and their families      Sept 2016

Work with partners to ensure all commissioned and non-commissioned  
services and activities are provided in advice and support offer   Dec 2016

Explore the feasibility of appointing a lead commissioner for disabled people  Dec 2016

Explore innovative ways to maintain provision of shorts breaks and  
respite placements for children and adults with disabilities    Sept 2016

Page 65



22

Action           by When

Priority Two: young people and adults with disabilities have access  
to employment and are financially resilient

Work with local employers (including all organisations within the partnership)  
to consider innovative collaborative approaches to increase the local provision  
for training and work opportunities and to enable more disabled people to  
access employment. To include mapping out and promoting the support  
that is available to support organisations when employing people  
with disabilities.         

Ensure that as part of the procurement of future services across the  
partner organisations in Wirral, it is a priority requirement within the  
service specification to identify opportunities for disabled people to  
access mainstream employment

Ensure that there is a focus on employment and volunteering within the             
Annual Review for Young People with disabilities in schools from                                
Year 9 onwards (Education, Health and Care Plan)     March 2017

Assessment and Care Planning process for disabled people to consider    
participation in employment and / or volunteering as a key outcome,  
where appropriate         March 2017

To be  
reviewed 
annually

To be  
reviewed 
annually

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

Page 66



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

23

Action           by When

Priority Three: children, young people and adults with disabilities  
have choice and control over their lives

Explore an approach to reducing the disparity in charging between children  
and adult support services         March 2017

Work in partnership with disabled people, their families and carers to  
ensure that they play an active part in influencing the planning,  
commissioning and delivery of services       

Explore opportunities for disabled people in receipt of personal budgets  
to pool their funds to enable them to take part in a wider range of activities,  
hobbies and leisure together and increase social interaction     March 2017

We will strengthen self-advocacy to ensure that disabled people have a  
strong voice in how services are developed and delivered locally   Sept 2017

Work as a partnership to explore innovative ways to remove barriers to  
people getting out and about in Wirral, particularly for people with  
mobility issues and sensory impairments. Areas of focus to include;

• Design of street furniture

•  Accessibility of shops, restaurants and public buildings such as 
community centres and hospitals 

To be  
reviewed 
annually

To be  
reviewed 
annually

Page 67



24

6.2 How will we know if we are getting it right?

The following performance data will be monitored through the life of the strategy  
to help to determine whether we are ‘getting it right’ and improving outcomes  
in line with our key priorities.

These measures will be included within the annual review of the strategy and monitored  
by the partnership board on a regular basis.

Indicator       baseline

Priority one: children, young people, adults and older people  
with disabilities are well and live healthy lives

Proportion of people with long term conditions who feel   Wirral 66.7%                                                                       
supported to manage their condition    England 64.4%

Health related quality of life for people with long            Wirral 0.698                                                                           
term conditions      England 0.743

The number of additional extra care homes available   Target - 300 by 2020                                                                            
in Wirral      

New measure around quality of life/support for children    To be developed and baseline   
and  young people with disabilities    established during 2016-17 

                                                                                    

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

Page 68



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

25

Indicator baseline

Priority Two: young people and adults with disabilities have access  
to employment and are financially resilient

Employment Rate aged 16-64 –  Wirral 37.5%
EA Core or Work Limiting Disabled England 49.8%

Key Stage 4 5+ A*-C including English & Maths for  Wirral 2014– 6.3%
pupils with Statements of SEN England  2014 - 8.0%

New measure around the introduction of Progress  
8 attainment specifically for FSM / CLA / SEN Available from 2017 onwards 

Indicator baseline

Priority Three: children, young people and adults with disabilities  
have choice and control over their lives

Indicator to be developed around perceptions  To be developed and baseline
of choice and control (all ages) established during 2016-17

Take up of Personalised budgets  Baseline established during 2016-17 
(including personal health budgets)

The number of ‘Disabled Go’ venue accessibility Target to complete 700 audits in Wirral  
audits completed in Wirral by Sept 2017

Page 69



26

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 visionthe wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

7.0 ConClUsion

Throughout the development of  
this strategy we have engaged with people 
with disabilities, their carers, professionals, 
and a range of public, voluntary and 
community sector organisations, including 
care and support providers, to ensure that 
the actions we will undertake over the next 5 
years will genuinely improve the lives of 
residents in Wirral with disabilities.  

We will continue our engagement with various 
stakeholders throughout the life of this 
strategy to ensure that the priorities  
and action plan remain relevant.

The partnership approach outlined 
throughout this document will be key to 
delivering our priorities despite the continuing 
pressure on budgets throughout the public 
sector. 

Page 70



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

27

8.0 steering groUP members

As outlined in Section 3, the All Age Disability 
Partnership Board will lead on the delivery of 
this strategy. Membership of this board is likely 
to be expanded throughout the life of the 
strategy to ensure that all partners who can 

contribute to the delivery of the key priorities 
are included. Current membership of the 
Board includes disabled people, parents and 
carers alongside representatives of the 
following organisations;

Page 71



28

the wirrAl PlAn: A 2020 vision

9.0 sUPPorting Delivery oF this strAtegy

Work to deliver the Wirral Plan Pledges is 
being carried out jointly across the 
partnership with projects identified in other 
Pledge strategies clearly linked to disabled 
people. Throughout this document reference  
is made to areas of work that link to other 
Wirral Strategies.  

Further strategies will also be developed to meet the  
more specialist needs of various groups of disabled people, 
such as people with autism and people with learning 
disabilities. The following strategies have already been 
written or are currently being produced. This is not the 
definitive list and more strategies will be included as they  
are defined and developed:
• All Age Autism Strategy

• All Age Joint Learning disability Strategy

• Transition Strategy

• children and young People’s Strategy

• Mental Health Strategy

• Sensory Impairment commissioning Strategy

• Special Educational Needs and disability Strategy

Page 72



All Age DisAbility strAtegy: PeoPle with DisAbilities live inDePenDently

29

9.0 reFerenCes

1  Equality Act 2010: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents accessed 18/2/2016

2    O’Brien, J. (1989): What’s worth working for? Leadership for Better Quality Human Services; 
http://www.inclusion.com/downloads/obrienarchive/System%20Change%20and%20
Leadership/What’s%20Worth%20Working%20For.pdf   accessed 18/2/2016 

3    Department for Work and Pensions (2014) and Office for Disability Issues (2014): 
Disability Facts and Figures https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-and-
figures/disability-facts-and-figures#disability-prevalence-estimates  accessed 18/2/2016  

4   Institute of Public Care (2015): Projecting Older People Population Information; 
http://www.poppi.org.uk/  accessed 18/2/2016

5   Wirral Council (2015): Internal data provided by Social Services

6    Office for National Statistics (2015): Employment Figures; 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/datasets-and-tables/index.html accessed 18/2/2016

7    Health and Social Care Information Centre (2015): Indicators; 
https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/ accessed 18/2/2016

8  Papworth Trust (2014): Home adaptation figures; http://www.papworthtrust.org.uk/ 

9    Office for National Statistics (2015): Disability Employment Figures; 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/taxonomy/search/index.html?pageSize=50&sortBy=none&sort 
Direction=none&newquery=disability&content-type=Reference+table&content-
type=Dataset&nscl=Labour+Market accessed 18/2/2016

10    Cincibility (2015): The Five Valued Experiences; 
https://cincibility.wordpress.com/2013/02/15/the-five-valued-experiences/  
accessed 18/2/2016 

11    Papworth Trust (2014): Disability in the United Kingdom, Facts and Figures 2014; http://www.
papworthtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/UK%20Disability%20facts%20and%20figures%20
report%202014.pdf  accessed 22/2/2016

Page 73



30

THE WIRRAL PARTNERSHIP

 

search: wirral 2020

@wirral2020 

Page 74



Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 20 March 2018

REPORT TITLE: Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 3 
2017/18

REPORT OF: Director of Finance and Investment

REPORT SUMMARY
This report sets out the financial monitoring information for Adult Care and Health in 
a format consistent across the Overview & Scrutiny Committees. The report provides 
Members with detail to scrutinise budget performance for this area of activity which 
forms part of the People Theme. The financial information is at close of quarter 3 
2017/18.

Information has been drawn from the relevant sections of the most recent Cabinet 
revenue and capital monitoring reports and combined with additional relevant 
service information to produce a bespoke report for this Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee. The report includes the following:

 Performance against the revenue budget (including savings, income and 
debt)

 Performance against the capital budget

RECOMMENDATION/S
1 The quarter 3 revenue forecast of on budget be noted.

2 The performance of the capital projects within this area be noted.

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To provide members with details of the financial performance of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee’s area.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not applicable

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 PERFORMANCE AGAINST REVENUE BUDGETS QUARTER 3
(OCTOBER 2017- DECEMBER 2017)

3.1.0 CHANGES TO THE AGREED BUDGET

3.1.1 The 2017/18 Budget was agreed by Council on 6 March 2017. Any increase 
to the overall Council Budget (but not use of the existing budget contingency) 
requires agreement by full Council.  Changes to the Budget since it was set 
are summarised in Table 1.

Table 1: 2017/18 Original & Revised Net Budget by Wirral Plan Themes

Original 
Net 

Budget

Budget 
Change 

Quarter 1 
Use of 

Contingency

Budget 
Change 

Quarter 1 
Use of 

Balances

Approved 
Budget 

Changes 
Qtr 3

Revised 
Net 

Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
People - Adult Social Care 
and Health

75,509           2,000  -         469 77,978

Net Cost of Services 75,509           2,000             -           469 77,978

3.2.0 PROJECTIONS AND KEY ISSUES

3.2.1 The projected outturn position as at the end of December 2017 and Wirral 
Plan: 2020 Vision Themes updates are detailed in the following sections.

Table 2: 2017/18 Projected Budget variations by Wirral Plan Themes

(Under) 
Overspend
Quarter 3

People - Adult Social Care and Health 77,978 79,478 1,500 R 1,499
TOTAL 77,978 79,478 1,500 1,499

Change 
from 
prev 

Directorates Revised 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

RAGBY 
Class

The report classifies the forecast under/overspends for the above areas using 
a colour RAGBY rating. The ratings are defined as follows:
 Overspends Red (over +£301k), Amber (+£141k to +£300k), Green 

(range from +£140k to -£140k)
 Underspends Blue (-£141k to -£300k), Yellow (over -£301k).

Page 76



3.2.2 People - Adult Social Care and Health

 There is a predicted overspend of £1.5 million at this point of the year, this is 
after the use of £2 million contingency budget.

 This has been caused by demand for adult social care services exceeding 
expectations.  Demand management practices have delivered some savings 
in 2017/18, but it has not been possible to mitigate this additional demand 
completely.

 Ideas are being explored - including one-off savings options - to find ways of 
managing the forecast overspend.

3.3 IMPLEMENTATION OF SAVINGS

3.3.1 A summary of the position of 2017/18 savings at 31 December 2017 is below.

Table 3: Savings Implementation 2017/18 (£000’s)
Amount
Delivered
at Q3

People - Adult Social Care
and Health

10 3,200 3,000 200

Total at Quarter 3 2017-18 10 3,200 3,000 0 200

Theme
Number of 
Options

Approved 
Budget 
Reduction

To be 
Delivered 

Amount 
covered by
contingency 
budget

At quarter 3 the forecasted achievement of the savings options is 93.8%.  
There is a combination of options including funding to cover increased 
demand. The savings option for Liverpool City region integration of adult 
safeguarding has slipped with only £80,000 of the £200,000 figure thought to 
be achievable in 2017/18.

3.4.0 INCOME AND DEBT

3.4.1 The table shows the outstanding debt for the whole of the council, value of 
debtors raised in year and the value that has been paid in 2017/18. This is 
different from previous quarter in an effort to show the amount of debt that is 
recovered each year.  This year has seen £67 million of invoices raised but 
has seen £68 million of payments. This will be across 2017/18 but also 
invoices raised in previous years.

Table 4: Accounts Receivable Debtor Cycle Analysis
2017/18 

£000
Arrears Brought Forward  £26,465
Invoices Value Raised in Year  £62,498
Invoices Value Paid in Year -£68,219
Total Remaining Debt £20,744

3.4.2 The above debt reflects the Council’s significant responsibilities in respect of 
social care activity. Elements of the debt will only be recoverable once clients 
are no longer in need of care.

Page 77



3.4.3 In accordance with proper accounting practice, income is credited to the 
relevant financial year’s accounts of the service area at the point invoices are 
raised.  A provision for bad debt is maintained and is assessed each year. 
Should non-payment occur after proceeding through all necessary recovery 
procedures, any properly authorised write off will be charged against the bad 
debt provision. 

3.5.0 PERFORMANCE AGAINST CAPITAL BUDGETS QUARTER 3 (October-
December 2017)

Revised 
Programme

Spend to 
Date Dec 

2017

Funded by: 
Council 

Resources

Funded 
by:

Grants
£000 £000 £000 £000

Adult Social Care and 
Health

1,850 854 1,135 715

Total expenditure 1,850 854 1,135 715
Further detail of the Capital Programme and spend is contained within Appendix 1 of this report.

3.5.1 Two of the schemes have been slipped into the 2018/19 program as at 
quarter 3. They are Community intermediate care (£500k) and Extra Care 
Housing (£500k). 

3.5.2 Citizen and Provider Portal 
Work has already begun on Phase 2 of the Liquidlogic project which will see 
the integration of complex services with Cheshire and Wirral Partnership. 
Going forward the focus will be on providing I.T. infrastructure for residential 
and nursing care providers; the development of Single View that allows the 
sharing of information between the Council and its partner organisations and 
possible development of an enhanced data warehouse.

3.5.3 Assistive Technology
The project to pilot tele-triage to 30 care homes is ongoing throughout the 
year. The focus will also be on other challenging areas such as reducing 
attendance at A&E, preventing unplanned hospital admissions and reducing 
dependency on social and health care interventions.

3.5.4 Pensby Wood

This project is to deliver an extension and improvements to current facilities to 
enhance the number of placements from 25 to 60/70 adults. Contractor is on 
site and the scheme is progressing well and is on target for completion by the 
end of March.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The financial implications of this report are discussed throughout the report. 
This is essentially a financial monitoring performance update report.

Page 78



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The entire report concerns the duty of the Council to avoid a budget shortfall.  
The Chief Finance Officer has a personal duty under the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 Section 114A to make a report to the executive if it appears 
to them that the expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it 
proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources  
available to it to meet that expenditure.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The possible failure to deliver the Revenue Budget is being mitigated by:

 Senior Leadership Team / Management Teams reviewing the financial 
position.

 Tracking system of savings options to monitor progress.
 Use of temporary additional support to assist with revenues collection.
 Use of earmarked reserves and General Fund Balance savings risk 

contingency.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
 

8.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 This report is essentially a monitoring report which reports on financial 
performance.

REPORT AUTHOR: Christopher Kelly
Principal Accountant
telephone:  (0151) 666 3417
email:  chriskelly@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Capital Programme and Funding 2017/18

Page 79



REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Budget Council
Cabinet – Revenue Monitoring 2017/18 Quarter 1
Cabinet – Capital Monitoring 2017/18 Quarter 1
Cabinet – Revenue Monitoring 2017/18 Quarter 2
Cabinet – Capital Monitoring 2017/18 Quarter 2
Cabinet – Revenue Monitoring 2017/18 Quarter 2
Cabinet – Capital Monitoring 2017/18 Quarter 2

6 March 2017
17 July 2017
17 July 2017

6 November 2017
               6 November 2017 

19 February 2018
                19 February 2018

Page 80



Capital Programme and Funding 2017/18 APPENDIX 1

Funding
People Theme : Adult Care and Health Revised 

Programme 
£000 

Spend to 
Date 
£000 

Council 
Resources 

£000
Reserves

£000

Business 
Rates 
£000

Grants 
£000

Total 
Funding 

£000
Pensby Wood day service re-modelling 1,300 545 1,135 - - 165 1,300
Citizen and Provider Portal/integrated I.T for 

social care 150 19 - - - 150 150
Public Health 200 193 - - - 200 200
Assistive technology 200 97 - - - 200 200

1,850 854 1,135 - - 715 1,850

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 20 March 2018

REPORT TITLE: 2017/18 Quarter 3 Wirral Plan and Health 
and Care Performance

REPORT OF: Director for Health & Care (DASS)

REPORT SUMMARY
This report provides the 2017/18 Quarter 3 (October - December 2017) performance 
report for the Wirral Plan pledges under the remit of the Adult Care and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The report, which is included as Appendix 1, 
provides a description of the progress in Quarter 3 as well as providing available 
data in relation to a range of outcome indicators and supporting measures.  

The report also includes further performance information that has been requested by 
Members to enable effective scrutiny. The Adult Social Care and Health 
Performance Overview is included as Appendix 2. This report has been further 
developed following Member feedback and includes key performance across health 
and social care.

Quarter Two Wirral Plan Performance Summary

 Wirral's Age Friendly Retail Pilot in the Pyramids Shopping Centre in 
December was successful with well over a hundred older people engaging with 
a range of activities and work is underway to develop the approach across the 
Liverpool City region.

 The most recent resident survey results provided both positive and negative 
feedback. There were reductions in the percentage of 50+ residents who 
reported feeling healthy (now 55% compared to 65% in 2015) and a smaller 
proportion reported feeling safe in their local area after dark (now 54% 
compared to 55% in 2015). However the percentage of Wirral Residents aged 
50 plus stating they are satisfied with the choice of housing in their local area 
increased to 57% from 56% in 2015 and the percentage of Wirral Residents 
aged 50 plus who said they feel safe when outside in the local area during the 
day increased to 92% from 88% in the previous survey. 

 The percentage of Wirral residents over 50 in employment improved for a fifth 
successive quarter and continues to close the gap between Wirral and the 
average across the rest of the country. 

 The health related quality of life for people with long term conditions is has 
improved for residents since March 2016. Wirral is closing the gap on the 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



average across the country.

 The introduction of pre-payment cards has had a positive effect in quarter 3 
which saw the number of adults reported to be in receipt of personal budgets 
increasing from 651 at Quarter 2 to 899.

 Adults with a learning disability who live in stable and appropriate 
accommodation has decreased slightly this quarter from 84.1% to 83.9% 
however Wirral remains ahead of the latest North West and National averages. 
A number of sites are being considered for Extra Care housing which if 
progressed would see 360 units developed

 Reporting at quarter 3 continues to illustrate the complex picture of Domestic 
Abuse in Wirral. The planned approach to increase awareness of domestic 
abuse has led to an increase in the number of high risk cases compared to the 
previous year. We are also supporting a higher number of children 
experiencing domestic abuse and are seeing a significant increase in the rate 
of referrals to social care for domestic abuse (age 18+ years). The intention is 
that in future years, once reporting levels have improved, the rate will reduce.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee note the content 
of the report and highlight any areas requiring further clarification or action. 

Page 84



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
1.1 To ensure Members of the Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee have the opportunity to scrutinise the performance of the Council 
and partners in relation to delivering the Wirral Plan and performance of Adult 
Social Services.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
2.1 This report has been developed in line with the approved performance 

management framework for the Wirral Plan.  As such, no other options were 
considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Wirral Plan is an outcome-focussed, partnership plan which has 18 
supporting strategies that set out how each of the 20 pledges will be 
delivered.  For each pledge, a partnership group has been established to 
drive forward delivery of the action plans set out in each of the supporting 
strategies.

3.2 A Wirral Plan Performance Management Framework has been developed to 
ensure robust monitoring arrangements are in place.  The Wirral Partnership 
has a robust approach to performance management to ensure all activity is 
regularly monitored and reviewed. 

3.3 Data for the identified indicators is released at different times during the year.  
As a result of this, not all Pledges will have results each quarterly reporting 
period. Some indicators can be reported quarterly and some only on an 
annual basis.  Annual figures are reported in the quarter they become 
available against the 2017/18 year end column.

3.4 For each of the indicators, a trend is shown (better, same or worse).  In most 
cases, this is determined by comparing the latest data with the previous 
reporting period i.e. 2016/17 year end.  In some cases, i.e. where data 
accumulates during the year or is subject to seasonal fluctuations, the trend is 
shown against the same time the previous year.  This is indicated in the key 
at the end of the report.

3.5 For some indicators, targets have been set. Where this is the case, a RAGB 
(red, amber, green, blue) rating is provided against the target and tolerance 
levels set at the start of the reporting period, with blue indicating performance 
targets being exceeded.

3.6 All Wirral Plan performance reports are published on the performance page of 
the Council’s website.  This includes the high level Wirral Plan overview report 
and the detailed pledge reports which include updates on progress on all 

Page 85



activities set out in the supporting strategy action plans.  The link to this web 
page is set out below:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/council-performance

3.7 Each of the Wirral Plan Pledges has a Lead Commissioner responsible for 
overseeing effective delivery.  The Lead Commissioners for the Pledges in 
the report at Appendix 1 are as follows:

 Ageing Well in Wirral – Fiona Johnstone
 People with Disabilities live Independent Lives – Graham Hodkinson
 Zero Tolerance to Domestic Violence – Mark Smith 

3.8 An additional report is included at Appendix 2 setting out a series of key 
indicators for the Adult Health and Care.  This is in response to Members 
requesting that Adult Health and Care performance data is provided to the 
Committee.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are none arising from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The performance management framework is aligned to the Council’s risk 
management strategy and both are regularly reviewed as part of corporate 
management processes.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 The priorities in the Wirral Plan pledges were informed by a range of 
consultations carried out in 2015 and 2016 including the Wirral resident 
survey.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Wirral Plan equality impact assessment can be found at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15/chief

Page 86

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/council-performance
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15/chief
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-15/chief


REPORT AUTHOR: Nancy Clarkson
Head of Intelligence
telephone:  (0151) 691 8258
email:   nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Wirral Plan – 2017/18 Quarter 3 Pledge Report

Appendix 2: Adult Social Care and Health Performance Overview – Quarter 3 

2017/18

REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

People Overview and Scrutiny Committee
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee
Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee
Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

8 September 2016
28 November 2016
23 March 2017
28 June 2017

13 September 2017

28 November 2017

Page 87

mailto:nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Wirral Plan Adult Care and Health Committee

Wirral Plan 2020

Appendix 1

Older people live well

2017-18 Quarter 3 ReportsP
age 89



Wirral Plan Indicator Indicator 
Wirral Plan 

Start
Benchmark Data

Year End

2016-17

2017-18 

Q1

2017-18 

Q2

2017-18 

Q3

Year End

2017-18 

Trend

(See 

Key)

Comment

Proportion of residents aged 

50+ volunteering on a 

regular basis

Annual

Higher is better

26%

(Oct 2015)

26%

(Dec 2017)
Same

The proportion of Wirral Residents aged 50 plus who say they volunteer at least once a month 

remained the same as 26% reported in the previous survey in 2016.

Proportion of residents aged 

50+ who say that they are 

satisfied with the choice of 

housing in their local area

Annual

Higher is better

56%

(Oct 2015)

57%

(Dec 2017)
Better

The percentage of Wirral Residents aged 50 plus stating they are satisfied with the choice of 

housing in their local area increased from 56% reported in the previous survey in 2016.

Healthy Life Expectancy at 

birth: Males

Annual

Higher is better

59.8

(Jan 2011- Dec 

2013)

England: 63.4

(Jan 2013 - Dec 2015)

North West: 61.1

(Jan 2013 - Dec 2015)

60.4

(Jan 2012 -  

Dec 2014)

61.1

(Jan 2013 - Dec 

2015)

Better

It's encouraging that the healthy life expectancy at birth for males continues to improve on the 

baseline (Wirral Plan start). This data comes from the public health outcome framework. 

Whilst data is released annually in November, there is a significant time lag. The latest data 

relates to 2013-15.

Healthy Life Expectancy at 

birth: Females

Annual

Higher is better

61.8

(Jan 2011- Dec 

2013)

England: 64.1

(Jan 2013 - Dec 2015)

North West: 62.0

(Jan 2013 - Dec 2015)

60.9

(Jan 2012 - Dec 

2014)

61.7

(Jan 2013 - Dec 

2015)

Better

It's encouraging that the healthy life expectancy at birth for females improved on the previous 

year. This data comes from the public health outcome framework. Whilst data is released 

annually in November, there is a significant time lag. The latest data relates to 2013-15.

Supporting Measure Indicator 
Wirral Plan 

Start
Benchmark Data

Year End

2016-17

2017-18

Q1

2017-18 

Q2

2017-18 

Q3

Year End

2017-18
Trend Comment

Percentage of older people 

(aged 50+) who feel safe 

when outside in the local 

area during the day

Annual

Higher is better

88%

(Oct 2015)

92%

(Dec 2017)
Better

The percentage of Wirral Residents aged 50 plus who said they feel safe when outside in the 

local area during the day increased from 88% reported in the previous survey in 2016.

Percentage of older people 

(aged 50+) who feel safe 

when out in the local area 

after dark

Annual

Higher is better

55%

(Oct 2015)

54%

(Dec 2017)
Worse

The percentage of Wirral Residents aged 50 plus who said they feel safe when outside in the 

local area after dark decreased from 55% reported in the previous survey in 2016.

Percentage of older people 

(aged 50+) who reported 

feeling healthy

Annual

Higher is better

65%

(Oct 2015)

58%

(Dec 2017)
Worse

The percentage of Wirral Residents aged 50 plus who reported feeling healthy decreased 

from 65% reported in the previous survey in 2016.

Employment rate of people 

aged 50+

Quarterly

Higher is better

33.5%

(Jun 2015)

England: 41.7%

(Oct 16-Sep 17)

North West: 38.9%

(Oct 16-Sep 17)

33.9%

(Jan - Dec 

2016)

34.4%

(Apr 2016 - Mar 

2017)

34.7%

(Jul 2016 - Jun 

2017)

36.3%

(Oct 2016 - Sept 

2017)

Better

The percentage of Wirral residents over 50 in employment improved for a fifth successive 

quarter and continues to close the gap between Wirral and the average across the rest of the 

country. The Quarter 3 figure from the Office for National Statistics relates to the period 

October 2016 - September 2017.

Overview from Lead Cabinet Member

I’m pleased to say that the launch of Wirral's Age Friendly Retail Pilot in the Pyramids Shopping Centre in December was really successful. The event was very well supported by local partners and retailers, with well over a hundred older people engaging with a range of activities on the 

 day. Communications activities in the coming year will focus on different aspects of the pilot to build on the momentum of the launch and maintain public awareness of the project.
 

A proposal has also been presented to the Liverpool City Region Health & Wellbeing Portfolio Holders Group, suggesting that this pilot is delivered more widely across the region. This proposal was accepted by the Group and we’re working with the other Local Authorities to move this 

 forward.
 

 We’re continuing to work with partners towards the requirements to become a Dementia Friendly borough. A Dementia Strategy Board, led by CCG colleagues, is currently being formed which will drive the delivery locally and this group will undoubtedly support work towards accreditation.
 

Whilst it’s positive to see several increases in our indicators, most notably in choice of housing and healthy life expectancy, there has been a decrease in some others. The most recent survey results suggests that 50+ residents don't feel as healthy as the previous year and a smaller 

 proportion reported feeling safe in their local area after dark. This ties in with information gathered from the Wirral Door Knock in relation to reported anti-social behaviour in some areas.
 

Our partners have undertaken a considerable amount of targeted work as a result, including efforts to engage young people in diversionary activities, as well as addressing the issue of littering/fly-tipping. As a consequence of this work, Mersey Fire and Rescue Service report a substantial 

 41% reduction in Anti-Social Behaviour related fires, while enforcement activities have achieved positive results against particularly problematic individuals.
 

In other actions, such as pre-retirement planning resources and employment/volunteer events, progress has been slow but steady and work continues to progress against both. There are many ideas around intergenerational activities that are beginning to take shape including 

establishing links between local primary schools, nurseries and care/retirement homes through Age UK.

People with disabilities live independent lives

Overview from Lead Cabinet Member

P
age 90



Wirral Plan Indicator Indicator 
Wirral Plan 

Start
Benchmark Data

Year End

2016-17

2017-18 

Q1

2017-18 

Q2

2017-18 

Q3

Year End

2017-18 

Trend

(See 

Key)

Comment

Health related quality of life 

for people with long term 

conditions

Annual

Higher is better

0.698

(Jul 2014 - Mar 

2015)

England: 0.737

 (Jan-Mar 2017)

0.695

(July 2015 - Mar 

2016)

0.700

(Jan-Mar 2017)
Better

Health-related quality of life for people with long-term conditions improved to 0.700 from 0.695 

the previous year but falls short of the average for the rest of England (0.737).

For the 2016/17 reporting period, the timing of the GP Patient Survey (GPPS) fieldwork has 

changed.  Historically two waves have been run, one wave between July and September one 

year, and the next wave between January and March the following year.  The 2016/17 GPPS 

survey condensed these two fieldwork periods into a single period between January and 

March. They have maintained the overall sample size of the survey.

Employment rate aged 16-64 

- Equality Act core or Work 

Limiting Disabled

Quarterly

Higher is better

37.5%

(Jul 2014 - Jun 

2015)

England: 52.9%

(Jul 2016 - Jun 2017)

North West: 47.9%

(Jul 2016 - Jun 2017)

44.0%

(Jan-Dec 2016)

43.1%

(Apr 2016 - Mar 

2017)

42.2%

(Jul 2016 - Jun 

2017)

n/a

Publication of health and disability variables from the Annual Population Survey have been 

suspended from the October 2016 to September 2017 period onwards, whilst further quality 

assurance of the estimates takes place by the Office for National Statistics.

Supporting Measure Indicator 
Wirral Plan 

Start
Benchmark Data

Year End

2016-17

2017-18

Q1

2017-18 

Q2

2017-18 

Q3

Year End

2017-18
Trend Comment

The gap in progress 

between pupils with a SEN 

statement/EHCP and their 

peers at Key Stage 4

Annual

Lower is better

n/a

England: 1.09

(2015-16 Acad Year)

North West: 1.00

(2015-16 Acad Year)

0.86

(2015-16 Acad 

Year)

1.22

(2016-17 Acad 

Year)

Worse

The latest 2016-17 figure is provisional. Provisionally, the gap in progress between pupils with 

a SEN Statement/EHCP and their peers at KS4 was 1.22. This figure was -1.09 for pupils with 

SEN Statement/EHCP and 0.13 for their peers.

Proportion of people with 

long term conditions who 

feel supported to manage 

their condition

Annual

Higher is better

66.7%

(Jul 2014 - Mar 

2015)

England: 64.0%

(Jan-Mar 2017)

68.0%

(Jul 2015 - Mar 

2016)

67.2%

(Jan-Mar 2017)
Worse

Proportion of people who are feeling supported to manage their condition is 67.2% for the 

period January 2017 - March 2017. Whilst this has reduced from 68% the previous year it's 

still higher that 66.7% at the start of the plan and also higher than the National average of 

64%.

For the 2016/17 reporting period, the timing of the GP Patient Survey (GPPS) fieldwork has 

changed.  Historically two waves have been run, one wave between July and September one 

year, and the next wave between January and March the following year. The 2016/17 GPPS 

survey condensed these two fieldwork periods into a single period between January and 

March. They have maintained the overall sample size of the survey.

The number of disabled 

people in receipt of personal 

budgets (including Direct 

Payments and Personal 

Health Budgets)

Quarterly

Higher is better

n/a
669

(2016-17)

863

(Q1 2017-18)

852

(Q2 2017-18)

1,102

(Q3 2017-18)
Better

The increase of people in receipt of personal budgets in Q3 was driven by the positive 

introduction of prepayment cards. Of the 1,102 people in Q3, 899 were adults reported by the 

Department of Adult Social Services (an increase from 651 last quarter). 203 young people 

were in receipt of personal budgets in Q3 (compared to 201 last quarter) which included 192 

direct payments, 3 Education, Health and Care Plans and 8 personal budgets.

Adults with a learning 

disability who live in stable 

and appropriate 

accommodation

Quarterly

Higher is better

n/a

England: 75.4%

(2015-16)

North West: 82.6%

(Q2 2017-18)

84.0%

(2016-17)

83.7%

(Q1 2017-18)

84.1%

(Q2 2017-18)

83.9%

(Q3 2017-18)
Worse

Ensuring people with disabilities have stable and appropriate accommodation improves their 

safety, increases their independence and reduces their risk of social exclusion. The quarter 3 

figure, 83.93%, is slightly down from the start of the year but is ahead of the latest North West 

and National averages. Q3 benchmarks aren't available at the time of reporting.

 It’s pleasing to see that the health related quality of life for people with long term conditions is has improved for our residents since March 2016. Wirral is closing the gap on the average across the country.
 

There’s no employment rate figure to report this quarter. The Office for National Statistics will resume providing this once they’ve reinforced the quality of the estimates they use. Wirral Metropolitan College’s supported intern scheme continues to go from strength to strength. The college 

 reported some challenges around people who are looked after or in supported living being able to sustain employment after the programme. To date, over 30 organisations have signed up to receive emails targeting protected groups to promote recruitment opportunities.
 

Wirral currently has 22 employers who are Disability Confident at Level 1, 12 at Level 2 and one at Level 3. A tele-conference was held in October to Wirral Council, Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and other Wirral employers seeking to become a Leader (Level 3) and DWP 

 have organised a meeting in January to encourage Level 2 employers to achieve Level 3 status.
 

 The introduction of pre-payment cards has had a really positive effect in quarter 3 which saw the number of adults reported to be in receipt of personal budgets increasing from 651 to 899.
 

Adults with a learning disability who live in stable and appropriate accommodation has decreased slightly this quarter from 84.1% to 83.9% however Wirral remains ahead of the latest North West and National averages. A number of sites are being considered for Extra Care housing 

 which if progressed would see 360 units developed and a draft Extra Care & Supported Living Strategy is currently out for consultation.
 

The All Age Disability Service was approval at Cabinet in November. A report setting out the final details of how social care assessment and support planning functions will be joined up with a health provider to give us greater flexibility while allowing us to develop a single service for 

 health and social care professionals will be provided to Cabinet in spring. The All Age Disability Service will lead to improved quality and consistency of service provision and reduce service barriers related to age and eligibility.
 

 Data is currently being collected from GP surgeries to establish improve our understanding of the prevalence and types of disability across Wirral. This will enable us to make more insightful decisions around service provision.
 

The Local Offer website is in the process of being improved to offer better knowledge and awareness of services across Wirral. Lessons have been learned from the case study of Liverpool City Region’s Live Well platform.

P
age 91



Wirral Plan Indicator Indicator 
Wirral Plan 

Start
Benchmark Data

Year End

2016-17

2017-18 

Q1

2017-18 

Q2

2017-18 

Q3

Year End

2017-18 

Trend

(See 

Key)

Comment

Number of domestic abuse 

Wirral MARAC cases per 

10,000 adult females

Quarterly

Higher is better

54.0

(2014-15)

Most Similar Force Group: 

44.0 (2016-17)

National: 35.0 (2016-17)

51.7

(2016-17)

Green

Actual: 13.3

Target: 13.0

(Apr-Jun 2017)

Green

Actual: 27.3

Target: 27.0

(Apr-Sept 2017)

Green

Actual: 37.7

Target: 36.0

(Apr-Dec 2017)

Better

The number of domestic abuse Wirral MARAC cases between April 2017-December 2017 was 

517 which was higher than the same period in the previous year (497).  The intention of the 

strategy is to increase awareness and improve reporting levels.

Children and young people 

experience domestic abuse 

(Wirral MARAC cases)

Quarterly

Higher is better

1,289

(2014-15)

1,211

(2016-17)

355

(Apr-Jun 2017)

727

(Apr-Sept 2017)

936

(Apr-Dec 2017)
Better

New processes have been agreed around collecting this data which should capture a higher 

number of children supported in the future.  This is a 16% increase on the same period last 

year (807).

Percentage of incidents of 

repeat domestic abuse  

(Wirral MARAC cases)

Quarterly

Lower is better

16.0%

(2014-2015)

Most Similar Force Group: 

31.0% (2016-17)

National: 26.0% (2016-17)

28.0%

(2016-17)

Green

Actual: 31.1%

Target: 25.0%

(Jul 2016 - Jun 

2017)

Green

Actual: 29.3%

Target: 25.0%

(Oct 2016 - Sept 

2017)

Green

Actual: 28.5%

Target: 25.0%

(Jan-Dec 2017)

Better

There were 729 MARAC cases from January 2017 to December 2017 of which 208 were 

repeat incidents (28.5%).   This is lower than the previous period when there were 29.3% of 

incidents of repeat domestic abuse.

Supporting Measure Indicator 
Wirral Plan 

Start
Benchmark Data

Year End

2016-17

2017-18

Q1

2017-18 

Q2

2017-18 

Q3

Year End

2017-18
Trend Comment

Number of Domestic Abuse 

cases referred to the Family 

Safety Unit (FSU)

Quarterly

Higher is better

949

(2014-15)

1,092

(2016-17)

221

(Apr-Jun 2017)

462

(Apr-Sept 2017)

682

(Apr-Dec 2017)
Worse

Between April 2017 to December 17, the number of domestic abuse referrals made to the FSU 

was 682 which is a reduction of 25% when compared to the same period last year (852).  The 

majority of referrals received  by the unit are from the Police.  Initial enquiries with Merseyside 

Police indicate that the explanation for this is a change in police processes and the 

implementation of a new Functional Policing Model.

% of children and Young 

People single assessments 

authorised with Domestic 

Violence (DV) related factors

Quarterly

Lower is better

n/a
36.7%

(2016-17)

35.5%

(Apr-Jun 2017)

33.8%

(Apr-Sept 2017)

34.3%

(Apr-Dec 2017)
Better

Performance relates to assessments between April 2017-December 17.  There has been a 

decrease (1.5%) when compared to the same period in the previous year (35.8%). 

Comparison with regional and national averages (Characteristics of children in need: 2016 to 

2017 - SFR 61/2017) shows that the proportion of episodes with assessment factor 

information that identify domestic violence as a factor is higher in Wirral, however it is notable 

that some regional and statistical neighbour authorities have proportions that are similar to 

Wirral.  Audits relating to  thresholds will be undertaken at the Integrated Front Door, where 

domestic violence is a presenting issue along with reviews of the outcomes and interventions 

at Level 2,3 and 4 to determine appropriate services are in place to meet the family’s needs.

Rate of referrals to social 

care presenting Domestic 

Violence issues (adults aged 

18+ years) per 100,000

Quarterly

Higher is better

n/a
12.62

(2016-17)

3.15

(Apr-Jun 2017)

7.49

(Apr-Sept 2017)

16.56

(Apr-Dec 2017)
Better

Data is currently provisional and for the period April-December 2017. This shows a significant 

increase from the same period last year (8.28) which is in line with the objective to raise 

awareness of domestic abuse in the first years to address under reporting.

Zero tolerance to domestic violence

Overview from Lead Cabinet Member

I am pleased to report that the progress of this pledge has continued to deliver impressive outcomes across the whole of Wirral.  The intention in the first years of the pledge was to increase awareness of domestic abuse, and a number of campaigns have been carried out to make this 

happen. In this reporting period the number of high risk cases are higher than the previous year. We are also supporting a higher number of children experiencing domestic abuse and are seeing a significant increase in the rate of referrals to social care for domestic abuse (age 18+ 

years).  However the percentage of repeat domestic abuse cases (MARAC) has consistently reduced over last 3 quarters, the MARAC team are carrying out further analysis to ensure we have a clear understanding of the situation and can ensure the right support for victims.

We are moving closer to having an Independent Domestic Abuse Advisor (IDVA) in A&E at Wirral University Teaching Hospital (WUTH). The business case has been completed and is awaiting WUTH approval in February 2018. 

There are a number of risk and challenges which the board are proactively addressing, these include:

• Young Person Domestic Abuse related offenders are beginning to raise some concern.  The head of Safer Wirral Hub is convening a special workshop to seek solutions for these repeat cases. There will be also be a requirement to commission a young persons perpetrator programme.

• Referrals to the Family Safety Unit are down by 25% compared to same period last year; initial enquires indicate explanation for this is changes to police process. This is being looked into to ensure that we are clear why this is the case.

• There has been limited progress delivering programme of interventions across domestic abuse services through joint commissioning approach.  We will be look to address this during 2018-19

• Mapping of domestic abuse service provision in Wirral to ensure that effective services are commissioned will be carried out in 2018-19.

• Evaluating effectiveness of the Integrated Offender Management (IOM) domestic abuse cohort was originally due to be completed in September 2017.  A joint agency group meets monthly to review cohort and feedback from safeguarding agencies regard IOM as a valuable option to 

enhance safeguarding of victims and potential victims  

It is good to see that a workshop has been arranged in February for the Domestic Abuse Alliance to agree next years priorities and work programme.

P
age 92



Report Key

Trend - Performance is shown as Better, Same or Worse compared with the last reporting period except for: Number of domestic abuse Wirral MARAC cases per 10,000 adult females, Children and young people experience domestic abuse (Wirral MARAC Cases), 

Number of domestic abuse cases referred to the FSU, % of children and Young People single assessments authorised with Domestic Violence (DV) related factors, Rate of referrals to social care presenting Domestic Violence issues (adults aged 18+ years) per 100,000 

which are compared with same period the previous year.

Target - Where targets apply, these are shown as either Blue, Green, Amber, Red based on the agreed tolerance range for individual measures.

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL

Adult Social Care & Health Performance Overview 

Quarter 3 2017/18

P
age 95



2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 870 862 862 863 863
Wirral % 86.3% 84.0% 84.0% 84.0% 84.0%
Target 88.0% 88.0% 88.0% 88.0% 88.0%
NW 1617 87.8% 87.8% 87.8% 87.8% 87.8%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

81%

82%

83%

84%

85%

86%

87%

88%

89%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f C

lie
nt
s

Adults with a Learning Disability Living at Home or with their Family

Overall performance across the North West fell by 2% when comparing 2016/17 to 2015/16, Wirral performance has fallen by a 
comparable rate.The reduction  in performance can be linked to the increasing number of permanent admissions of younger adults to
care homes which is representative of an ageing population of people with a learning disability.
In line with the aim to develop a further 300 extra care units by 2020 a supported housing strategy for people with disabilities will be 

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 23 25 25 25 25
Wirral % 2.3% 2.5% 2.5% 2.4% 2.5%
Target 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%
NW 1617 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 4.2%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

4.5%

5.0%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f C

lie
nt
s

Learning Disabilities and Access to Employment

A total of 25 people (of 1,009) with a learning disability are currently in paid employment.
Work is on‐going with Wirral Evolutions to review the people in supported employment to check for eligibility for inclusion  in this 
measure and to explore further opportunities to support individuals  into employment. 
The Council has recently been awarded Disability Confident Employer status and is working towards becoming a Disability Confident 
Leader in conjunction with the Wirral Chamber of Commerce. A programme of internships is to be proposed with Wirral Met College 

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral 19.7 19.4 19.4 19.4 19.4
Target 16.0 16.0 16.0 16.0 16.0
NW 1617 16.1 16.1 16.1 16.1 16.1

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

Pe
r 1

00
,0
00

Permanent admissions of younger adults (18‐64) to residential and nursing care 
homes, per 100,000 population

There has been an increase in the number of permanent admissions of younger adults to residential and nursing care homes, which 
will cause an increase in the financial demands placed on the borough.  The council  is promoting  independent  living increasingly, 
which conflicts directly with this rise.

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 140.0 129.0 99.0 116.0 115.5
Wirral 750.5 682.8 629.8 672.8 670.0
Target 690.0 690.0 690.0 690.0 690.0
NW 1617 716.1 716.1 716.1 716.1 716.1

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

560

580

600

620

640

660

680

700

720

740

760

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
r 1

00
,0
00

Permanent admissions of older people (65+) to residential and nursing care homes per 
100,000 population

Over the last year there has been a significant reduction in permanent admissions for older people over 65 in line with the plan. The 
council  is promoting  independent  living increasingly, however there has been an increase during the winter period which correlates 
with very high levels of demand for all provision.   We are overachieving our target of 5% reduction for older people, due to system 
redesign/investment  in T2A and reablement, despite acquity levels.

Wirral Intelligence Service

P
age 96



2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral 909 1137 1201 1219
Target 1650 1650 1650 1650

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

N
um

be
r o

f C
lie
nt
s

Number of People placed in a long term residential / nursing home bed (Aged 65+)

Projecting forward, there will be a slight decrease in the financial burden on the council which an increase in the number of people 
placed in long term residential / nursing home beds would bring.  However, be mindful that these margins are small, and the forecast 
is not always fully accurate.

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 601 871 529 455 381
Wirral % 4.5% 6.4% 3.8% 2.2% 3.5%
Target 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f C

lie
nt
s

DToC ‐ Delayed Transfer of Care 

There has been significant improvement this year and the council have over‐achieved the target set target. This position has been 
held since Novermber 2017 as well, despite this being through the most pressured time of the year for unplanned care. The system 
focus is now to maintain this position, focus on stranded patients (those in over 7 days) and discharge increasing numbers who are 
medically optimised. This performance has been recognised by NHSE. 

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 472 391 442 494 546
Wirral % 6.4% 5.3% 6.0% 6.7% 7.4%
Target 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f C

lie
nt
s

Proportion of new requests for support resulting in long term services

This increase reflects high levels of demand being experienced by social care services

2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 20 19 19
Wirral % 48.7% 47.5% 46.3%
Target 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%
NW (Current) 63.2% 63.2% 63.2%

15

20

25

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

% of Beds in Nursing Homes rates as 'Outstanding' or 'Good'

Fewer than half of the nursing homes on the Wirral are 'Outstanding' or 'Good' and, again the pattern is that inspections towards the 
end of the reporting period are generally less positive in nature.  CQC inspections will continue throughout the year and we should 
ensure we support homes to achieve a 'Good' or 'Outstanding' grading.

Wirral Intelligence Service

P
age 97



2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral 474.1 429.1 439.3 426.4 430.0
NW 1617 250.8 250.8 250.8 250.8 250.8
Target 250.0 250.0 250.0 250.0 250.0

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
r 1

00
,0
00

Number of episodes of reablement / intermediate care intervention for clients aged 
65+ per 10,000 population

Dom Care ‐ Despite a reduction in activity reported levels are significantly higher than the North West average.  Capacity of home based reablement has been affected by pressures 
within the domiciliary care market. Providers are experiencing capacity issues and have cited particular issues with regards rostering staff associated with 15 minute calls and keeping 
packages open if an individual has been placed in hospital. In order to support an outcomes focussed approach the Council has agreed to pay all calls as a minimum of 30 minutes and to 
increase the retainer paid linked to hospital admissions from 48 hrs to 7 days.  Whilst capacity and throughput are an area of concern the continuing positive outcomes of individuals 
who receive reablement should be noted.

Reablement ‐ there has not been any wait for reablement other than 10 days in December, when the teams lost 15 staff with flu. There are 20 people still receiving reablement awaiting 

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 825 840 876 958 1040
Wirral % 80.3% 82.6% 87.7% 85.7% 87.0%
Target 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0% 90.0%

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

84%

86%

88%

90%

92%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

% of Safeguarding Contacts Completed within 24 Hours 

Whilst the forecast for this measure is higher than in 2016/17,  it still falls short of the ideal position.  It is vital that those which take 
longer than 24 hours are checked to ensure that they are recorded accurately on Liquid Logic.  Those which fall short of the target 
generally do not exceed the timeframe by a great deal.

2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 53 54 55
Wirral % 66.7% 67.5% 68.3%
Target 70.0% 70.0% 70.0%
NW (Current) 75.7% 75.7% 75.7%

50

55

60

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

% of Beds in Residential Homes rates as 'Outstanding' or 'Good'

Two thirds of the residential homes on the Wirral are now rated a 'Outstanding' or 'Good', although there is a general trend that more 
recent ratings have been at the lower end of the scale.  CQC inspections will continue throughout the year and we should ensure we 
support homes to achieve a 'Good' or 'Outstanding' grading.

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral % 8.0% 8.0% 9.0% 8.0% 8.0%
Target 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0%

7.2%

7.4%

7.6%

7.8%

8.0%

8.2%

8.4%

8.6%

8.8%

9.0%

9.2%

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

% of Beds available in Residential and Nursing Homes

There is capacity within the system to cope with any unforeseen rise in demand, whilst maintaining a level that is sufficient to allow 
private establishments to remanin as functioning organisations.

Wirral Intelligence Service

P
age 98



2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 1189 324 588 943 1298
Wirral % 64.3% 56.2% 59.0% 58.9% 59.0%
Target 65.0% 65.0% 65.0% 65.0% 65.0%

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

50%

52%

54%

56%

58%

60%

62%

64%

66%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

% of Safeguarding Investigations completed within 28 days

There is a general downward trend in this indicator  in terms of current performance, as well as projected figures.  There are several 
investigations which are taking significantly  longer than the requisite 28 days, which could be as a result of data entry errors and 
should be reviewed as part of the data quality reports by managers.

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral % 78.1% 81.9% 77.3% 75.6% 74.0%
Target 88.0% 88.0% 88.0% 88.0% 88.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

% of New Assessments Completed within 28 days

The percentage of new assessments completed within 28 days generally decreases throughout the year, and 2017/18 has followed 
this trend.  At present, this will leave the council a long way short of the target, as well as the performance  in 2016/17.

2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral No. 683 1995 2862 3729
Wirral % 12.6% 36.8% 52.8% 62.0%
Target 80.0% 80.0% 80.0% 80.0%

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

N
um

ber of Clients

Pe
rc
en

ta
ge

% of Annual Reviews Completed

This performance measure increases throughout the year, up to a forecated value of 62%.  This is some way short of the target, 
however, and shows the pressures on teams when it comes to managing challenging workloads.

2016.17 Q4 2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3 2017.18 Q4 Forecast
Wirral 818 829 839 841 845
Target 850 850 850 850 850

800

810

820

830

840

850

860

N
um

be
r o

f C
lie
nt
s

Number of People with a Learning Disability who receive a community provision (Aged 
18‐64)

The number of people with learning disabilities who are receiving a community provision has increased, resulting in less pressure 
being put on residential and nursing homes, thereby reducing costs to the council.  This also increases independent  living, a key 
cornerstone of current council policy.

Wirral Intelligence Service

P
age 99



2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3
RTT Non Admitted 83.7% 84.7% 82.5%
RTT Non Admitted Target 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100% Referral to Treatment ‐ Non Admitted

2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3
Arrowe Park A&E 75.96% 72.48% 73.04%
Target 95.00% 95.00% 95.00%
Arrowe park WIC 97.95% 98.76% 99.71%
Total A&E and WIC 88.10% 81.12% 83.93%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

A&E Waiting Times

The current standard agreed by NHSE until the end of March 2018 is 90%. Overall the system is improving.  Primary care streaming at 
the front door is now in place and phase 2 goes live on 19th February 2018, which will reduce overcrowding at ED. Work is underway 
to redesign ED/ambulatory pathways.  There has been positive feedack from NHSE regarding the system and how we have coped 
through winter this year as well as a stronger community offering.

2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3
RTT Admitted 64.7% 65.4% 66.8%
RTT Admitted Target 90.0% 90.0% 90.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
Referral to Treatment ‐ Admitted

2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3
RTT Incomplete 83.6% 81.8% 84.9%
RTT Incomplete 92.0% 92.0% 92.0%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Referral to Treatment ‐ Incomplete

The CCG is currently underperforming  in the following specialties; Cardiology 87.39% (116 patients), Dermatology 86.95% (184 
patients), ENT 78.91% (251 patients), Gastroenterology 88.27% (144 patients), General Surgery 73.41% (988 patients),  Gynaecology 
86.58% (189 patients), Neurosurgery 50.00% (1 patient), Ophthalmology 77.13% (631 patients), Other Surgery 79.22% (732 patients), 
Thoracic Medicine 80.84% (160 patients), T&O 78.70% (536 patients) and Urology 75.15% (376 patients).

Wirral Intelligence Service

P
age 100



2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2
MRSA Cumlative 1 1 1
Cdifficile Cumulative 30 59 88
Cdifficile  Cumlative target 19 38 56

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Healthcare Acquired Infections

MRSA ‐ There were 0 new cases in December.
Cdiff – In December there were 11 cases attributed to Wirral CCG. 
All cases of C‐difficile and MRSA have a Post Infection Review undertaken to ascertain if these were unavoidable or due to lapse in care.  Action 
plans are developed for any cases due to lapse in care.  A high level Trust Infection and Prevention Improvement Plan has been developed to 
address the key issues, including: Accountability Framework; Back to Basics; Simplification of Processes; Improving IT to Improve IPCT. 
HAI is discussed at the monthly Quality meeting with the Trust. 

2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3
2 Week Wait 95.5% 96.8% 98.2%
62 Day Wait Target 85.0% 85.0% 85.0%
62 Day Wait 83.9% 84.8% 86.0%
2 Week Wait Target 93.0% 93.0% 93.0%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%
Cancer

Wirral CCG achieved all standards for quarter 3.

2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3
A&E 11.8% 11.8% 11.5%
Inpatient 20.7% 14.4% 20.1%
Outpatient 22.7% 21.8% 22.1%
Ambulance 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%
maternity ‐ Birth 2.2% 2.4%
Mental Health 2.2% 2.4% 1.8%
Dental 0.8% 0.9% 0.7%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Friends and Family Test Response Rates

2017.18 Q1 2017.18 Q2 2017.18 Q3
A&E 88.7% 87.3% 90.7%
Inpatient 88.8% 86.5% 84.8%
Outpatient 94.0% 94.0% 94.7%
Ambulance 95.1% 94.6% 93.4%
Maternity ‐ Birth 99.7% 97.3% 96.5%
Mental Health 88.0% 87.3% 90.9%
Community 96.2% 95.6% 96.0%
GP 93.8% 91.9% 92.3%
Dental 99.4% 98.3% 98.1%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

105%
Friends and Family Test 

Wirral received feedback from friends and family for Inpatient, Outpatient, Ambulance, Mental Health, Dental, A&E, Maternity, Community Health 
and GP.
As shown in the infographic above Outpatient received a recommendation score of 95.00%. Inpatients department received a recommendation 
score of 85.36%
Ambulance Services received a recommendation score of 93.64%.
Mental Health Services received a score of 93.75%, Dental Services received a score of 95.00% and Accident and Emergency received a score of 
88.00%.
Responses for Maternity (Birth) received a score of 93.00%.
Community Services received a recommendation score of 93.91% and GP Services received a score of 92.61%
As there is no specific target set within the guidance we have added a local benchmarking target of 90% as shown in the trend charts.

Wirral Intelligence Service

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Eastham Walk in centre-position update:

We agreed to provide an update with regard plans for reinstating full opening of 
Eastham walk in centre by May 2018.

Eastham WIC has been operational with reduced hours, since January 2nd 2018. 
The service has been available 1-5pm Mon – Fri and 12-4 Saturday and Sunday.

This was to support WCT a period of time to recruit and appropriately train staff, to 
enable the full service to be reinstated in May 2018. 

Plans have been progressing and we can confirm the following:
 Recruitment has commenced 
 Training is on track
 Discussions and plans underway to enable full reinstatement of service in 

May.
 It is our intention to move to full opening hours of 8 hours a day, 7 days.

We will provide a further update towards the end of April to confirm full re-opening 
plans for May.

Karen Howell, CEO, WCT
Simon Banks, AO,
 March 3rd 2018

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



1

ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

REPORT TITLE Response to the Ombudsman’s Report relating to 
the Mental Capacity Act

REPORT OF Simon Garner
Lead Commissioner, All Age Disability

REPORT SUMMARY

In July 2017 the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman published a report 

entitled “The Right to Decide: Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and 

deprivation of liberty”. It was a focus report to illustrate learning from complaints. This 

report has been written to identify learning we have taken from this document and how we 

intend to take such lessons forward.

The report is available via the internet: 

(https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4162/DOLS%20AND%20MCA%20-%20FINAL.pdf) 

and is attached as an appendix (Appendix 1).

RECOMMENDATION/S

That Members take note of the ongoing work in this area.

Page 105

Agenda Item 11

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4162/DOLS%20AND%20MCA%20-%20FINAL.pdf


2

 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
N/A

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
N/A

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The MCA was introduced in 2007 and DoLS in 2009. The MCA provides a legal 
framework that allows others to take decisions on behalf of incapacitated adults 
(16+). The MCA has five principles that must be complied with by those using it. 
There are also a Codes of Practice that provide statutory guidance to professionals 
and others operating under the Act.

3.2 DoLS was introduced as a way of ensuring that people who lacked capacity to 
consent to live and receive care in a hospital or care home were lawfully deprived of 
their liberty under Article 5 of the European Convention of Human Rights (ECHR). 
The definition of what amounted to a deprivation of liberty was amended by the 
Supreme Court in a judgement handed down in March 2014. This new definition 
vastly increased the numbers of people that have become subject to its provisions

The Ombudsman’s Findings

3.3 Mental Capacity Assessments

The Ombudsman identified that capacity assessments were not being completed 
when they should have been. Two examples are given.  In the first example, a care 
home had “taken a generalised approach to assessing a service-user’s mental 
capacity and relied on the views of others. It had a responsibility to carry out its own 
decision-specific assessments, which should have been triggered by the service-
user’s refusal of care and been done on a daily basis.”

Actions Wirral Council have undertaken:

3.3.1 Social workers, when placing a person who lacks capacity to consent to the 
admission in a care home, are required to provide the care home with a copy of their 
capacity assessment and best interest decision. This document will model for care 
homes what a capacity assessment and best interest decision will looks like.

3.3.2 A series of training events on the MCA and DoLS was offered by the Council and 
were well attended by providers and Council social care staff. Further discussion is 
ongoing around commissioning training in using the MCA. On Liquid Logic there is a 
capacity assessment tool that will ensure the statutory questions are asked.

Page 106



3

3.3.3 As part of the work stream of the professional standards team there will be planned 
audits of compliance with the MCA. The audits by the professional standards team 
will focus on the commissioned assessments undertaken on behalf of the Council by 
social care staff employed within health settings. These audits will cover the issues 
raised within this report including quality of assessments, evidence based decision 
making, timeliness of assessments and compliance with the MCA Code of Practice 
and the statutory tests.

3.3.4 As part of the quality assurance of social care providers by the quality and safety 
team they will be monitoring the application of the Mental Capacity Act within the care 
planning documentation used by providers of domiciliary and residential care. This is 
also an area which the Care Quality Commission will be judging Wirral providers 
against as part of their regulatory framework. 

3.4 Best Interest Decisions 

The Ombudsman’s report identifies two cases where process were not followed and 
families and the person themselves were not involved in decision making. The 
scenarios highlight the distress and anxiety caused to individuals when the proper 
processes are not followed. In addition, there was concern that in one case an 
application to the Court of Protection was not made when evidence identified this 
should have been done.   

Actions Wirral Council have undertaken:

3.4.1 As mentioned above social care staff have already undertaken update training in the 
MCA but further training will be offered in 2018. On Liquid Logic there is a best 
interest decision tool that will ensure the statutory questions are asked.

3.4.2 As part of the work stream, professional standards will be auditing the quality of best 
interest decisions. Any audit will look at compliance with the MCA Code of Practice 
and compliance with the statutory tests. 

3.4.2 There is a greater awareness within the commissioning process of the need to 
comply with the MCA. Those professionals seeking resources to meet service-user’s 
needs will more readily asked about their compliance with the MCA.

3.5 Disagreements with the process and involving families

This is the most challenging area of work we face. Sometimes disagreements with 
families arise. Colleagues always attempt to negotiate with family members to reduce 
areas of disagreement. The Code of Practice and the Court of Protection expect us to 
try to reduce disagreements before applying to the Court. We need to be able to 
demonstrate we have made sufficient attempts to resolve any issues but ensure that 
there is no significant breach of the person’s human rights.

Page 107



4

Actions Wirral Council have taken:

3.5.1 A legal surgery has long been established and under the new working arrangements 
it will continue in two or three formats. Legal advice is available for urgent situations. 
In addition, colleagues have access to the team manager for professional standards 
who leads on the MCA and DoLS for relevant advice.

3.5.2 Consideration is being given to commissioning court skills training for social workers.

3.5.3 The use of advocates also supports the resolution of disagreements as does 
involving professionals from other disciplines. For example in one case the 
involvement of a registered nurse was sufficient to convince a family that their loved 
one needed to remain in a care home because of the high levels of need that person 
had.

3.6 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

The Ombudsman in one scenario identifies that a family member was not told of their 
rights to challenge a local authority decision to move their relative. The Ombudsman 
also identifies that local authorities are taking too long to undertake DoLS 
assessments.

Actions Wirral Council have taken:

3.6.1 The Council in its correspondence, when a standard authorisation is issued, ensures 
care homes, hospitals, the relevant person and their representative are aware of their 
rights to request a review under Part 8, Schedule A1 MCA and apply to the Court  of 
Protection under section 21A MCA.

3.6.2 This large volume of assessments continues to be a live issue for the Council as it is 
for all other councils across England and Wales and will continue to be so for some 
time to come. Significant resources are in place to support those high priority 
assessments and authorisations.

3.6.3 The Law Commission in June 2017 proposed significant changes to DoLS and the 
MCA. However, their recommendations were not included in the Queen’s Speech. 
Commentators indicate it will now be 2019 at the earliest before such legislation is 
introduced. It will then take between two years or thereabouts for it to become 
enacted. In February 2018 Parliament has called for evidence as to whether this 
process should be speeded up.

3.6.4 Although there have only been four recent complaints which have related to mental 
capacity issues the Council has identified learning from these and as a result specific 
in depth training around assessing capacity and making best interests decisions is 
being commissioned from a local provider. We are also in discussion with NHS 
partners in Wirral Community Foundation Trust to offer places to their staff. 

3.6.5 A piece of work to look at the processes the Council uses to make applications to the 
Court of Protection for property and affairs deputies is also being undertaken. It was 
identified that improvements in capacity assessments and governance arrangements 
needs to be made to best protect service-users, their families and the Council. 

Page 108



5

4  FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 N/A

5 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
5.1 N/A

6 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 Children and Young People’s services will need to have knowledge of the MCA 
when working with young people over 16 years of age.

7 RELEVANT RISKS 
N/A

8 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 N/A

9 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There is no relevance to equality as the arrangements for commissioning services 

for people with a disability will achieve an overall improvement in the experience of 

people who use services.

REPORT AUTHOR: Simon Garner
(Lead Commissioner, All Age Disability)
telephone:  (0151 666 3726)
email:   simongarner@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – LGO Report “The Right to Decide: Towards a greater understanding of 

mental capacity and deprivation of liberty”

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 109

mailto:simongarner@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 The Right to Decide: Towards a 
greater understanding of mental 

capacity and deprivation of liberty

Focus Report: learning lessons from complaints

July 2017

www.lgo.org.uk

Page 111



Page 112



Contents

Introduction           1

Mental Capacity Act         2

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards      3

Common Issues and Complaints 

 >  Not completing mental capacity assessments   4

 >  Delays in carrying out mental capacity assessments   6

 >  Poor ‘best interests’ decision making      7

 >  Disagreements with the process and involving families 9

 >  Delay in obtaining DoLS authorisations    10

 > Carrying out full assessment before applying for DoLS  12

Good Practice: Getting it right first time     14

Questions for scrutiny         15

The role of the Ombudsman        16

Investigating complaints about health and social care  16

Annex: Context of the DoLS landscape     17

Page 113



The right to decide1

Making decisions in the best 
interest of people who lack 
mental capacity, is a complex 
and often sensitive issue for 
the family members involved. 
Often the decision to restrict 
a person’s freedom - even if 
it is for their own good - is an 
emotionally charged one. 

The Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman 
investigates complaints about 
all types of adult social care. 
Through our investigations, we 
are seeing evidence of councils 
and care providers failing to 
understand important aspects 
of this complex subject. 

The result is some people are 
being forced into situations 
against their will, without 
proper checks carried out 
and safeguards put in place. 
Councils and care providers 
need to ensure they get these 
difficult decisions right, in line 
with the correct procedures, 
and in a timely way.

This report looks at the 
common issues we see from 
our investigations when a 
council or care provider is 
involved with a person who 
lacks mental capacity. These 
include failures to carry out 
assessments to ascertain 
whether someone has capacity 
to make decisions; poor 
decision making when deciding 
on someone’s best interests; 
and not appropriately involving 
families and friends in the 
process. 

We also see problems with 
the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) system. 
There are cases where proper 
assessments have not been 
made – sometimes for years. 
It is not right that some of the 
most vulnerable care users 
are being informally deprived 
of their freedom without the 
right checks in place. We 
know councils have struggled 
to keep up with the rise in 
DoLS applications since 
the 2014 Supreme Court 
ruling effectively lowered the 
threshold for cases requiring an 
authorisation.

This report looks at the impact 
on people when things go wrong. 
Examples include a woman 
who was forcibly removed from 
the family home in the night 
without prior notice; a man who 
was moved to a care home 
some 15 miles away from his 
family without formal capacity 
assessments being done; and 
a woman who was let down by 
a number of organisations not 
taking control to ensure she 
received good care. 

In the year 2016/17 we 
investigated 1,212 adult social 
care complaints in detail. 
We estimate that up to 20% 
of these concerned mental 
capacity or DoLS. Following 
investigation, we upheld 69% 
of these cases, indicating that 
there were faults that needed 
some form of remedy. This is 
much higher than the average 
rate of 53% across all our 
investigations. 

We want to improve adult social 
care services by sharing the 
lessons from our investigations. 
So we identify some best 
practice points to assist 
councils and care providers 
to follow the right steps when 
working with people who lack 
mental capacity. It should also 
help carers and friends acting 
on their behalf.  

To aid local scrutiny of services, 
we also provide a set of 
questions for councillors to ask 
their authorities.

Introduction

Page 114



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 2

Background 

Professionals provide social 
care support to people who 
may be having difficulties with 
making decisions. For some 
people their capacity to make 
certain decisions is affected 
temporarily or permanently. 
This may be caused, for 
example, by a stroke or brain 
injury, a mental health problem, 
dementia, a learning disability, 
substance or alcohol misuse. 

In the past, people with mental 
health problems often had 
decisions made for them which 
resulted in numerous injustices 
such as forcible treatment, and 
loss of control of their finances. 

The Mental Capacity Act 2005 
aims to empower people who 
may not be able to make some 
decisions themselves and 
also to protect them. The Act 
has a Code of Practice which 
sets out the steps that must be 
followed by professionals and 
paid carers when considering 
whether someone lacks mental 
capacity (unless there is good 
reason for not doing so). It also 
allows people to plan ahead in 
case they are unable to make 
decisions in the future. 

Assessing mental capacity

The Code says it is important 
to start from an assumption of 
capacity. Making an unwise 
decision does not necessarily 
indicate a lack of capacity. This 
is a fundamental principle within 
the Mental Capacity Act that 
should always be borne in mind 
by professionals.  

Triggers for an assessment 
can be, for example, the way 
a person behaves, concerns 
raised by someone else, or 
the death of the person who 
had been providing care. But 
when a person’s capacity is in 
doubt, a capacity assessment 
should be carried out in relation 
to the specific decision to be 
made and not because of a 
person’s illness, disability, age 
or behaviour. 

The two questions to be 
asked when professionals are 
assessing a person’s capacity 
are: 

 > Is there an impairment 
of, or disturbance in, the 
functioning of the person’s 
mind or brain? 

 > If so, is the impairment 
or disturbance sufficient 
to cause the person to 
be unable to make that 
particular decision? 

The assessment process has 
to be clear.  It should set out 
what decision needs to be 
made and provide evidence 
for the assessor’s view. It 
will require the views of all of 

the organisations involved in 
providing support and should 
include family and carers. 
Where there is no family or 
anyone else with legal authority 
to make decisions for that 
person, an Independent Mental 
Capacity Advocate may be 
assigned when an important 
decision needs to be made, e.g. 
a change in accommodation. 

A person with a learning 
disability may lack the capacity 
to make a major decision but 
this does not mean they cannot 
decide what to eat, wear and 
do each day. And a person with 
mental health problems may be 
unable to make decisions when 
they are unwell but able to 
make them when they are well.  
Someone with dementia is 
likely to lose the ability to make 
decisions as the dementia 
worsens.

Mental Capacity Act

The Code says someone 
lacks capacity if they cannot do 
one or more of the following four 
things:

 > Understand information 
given to them about a 
particular decision

 > Retain the information long 
enough to be able to make 
the decision 

 > Weigh up the information 
available to make the 
decision 

 > Communicate their decision 

The assessment must consider 
them.

Page 115



The right to decide3

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) is an aspect 
of the Mental Capacity Act, and 
is there to protect those who 
lack mental capacity while in 
a care home or hospital from 
harm.

The safeguards protect the 
interests of an extremely 
vulnerable group of service 
users, and aim to:

 > ensure people can be 
given the care they need 
in the least restrictive 
regimes

 > prevent arbitrary decisions 
that deprive vulnerable 
people of their liberty

 > provide safeguards for 
vulnerable people

 > provide them with rights of 
challenge against unlawful 
detention

 > avoid unnecessary 
bureaucracy.

DoLS came into force in 2009. 
It followed a 2004 European 
Court of Human Rights ruling 
that exposed a gap in mental 
health law for compliant, but 
incapacitated, patients. At 
the time of the ruling, it was 
estimated as many as 50,000 
care home residents and 
22,000 hospital in-patients were 
being deprived, informally, of 
their liberty.

DoL safeguards apply to 
anyone:

 > aged 18 and over

 >  who suffers from a mental 
disorder or disability of the 
mind – such as dementia 
or a profound learning 
disability

 >  who lacks the capacity to 
give informed consent to 
the arrangements made 
for their care and / or 
treatment and

 > for whom deprivation 
of liberty (within the 
meaning of Article 5 of 
the European Convention 
on Human Rights) is 
considered, after an 
independent assessment, 
to be necessary in their 
best interests to protect 
them from harm.

Page 116



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 4

Common Issues and Complaints

Not completing mental capacity assessments

The Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice has clear steps to follow if somebody’s mental capacity 
is in doubt. This includes carrying out a mental capacity assessment which focuses on the decision 
making process itself. 

When someone’s liberty is at stake, it is imperative that these assessments are carried out, they 
follow the Code of Practice guidelines, and the reasoning is evidenced. Assessments must be related 
to specific decisions, and not simply related to someone’s general ill health or disability.

Jane and Elsie’s story

Jane’s mother, Elsie, was in her 80s and spent some periods at a nursing home after struggling to 
cope at home. She was admitted to hospital and stayed for a month when she suffered an illness 
related to her diabetes.

Upon returning to the nursing home, Jane felt the council, nursing home and the NHS failed to take 
control to ensure Elsie was receiving adequate care. Jane said no one took charge to assess her 
mother’s mental capacity. Elsie regularly refused personal care, the medication required to control 
her diabetes and displayed aggression towards nurses and carers. She slept in her recliner chair. 

Some six weeks later, Elsie’s GP referred her to hospital. She had developed severe pressure sores, 
sepsis, dehydration, uncontrolled diabetes, chronic hip and knee pain and stayed in hospital for three 
and a half months.  

Jane complained to the nursing home, was unhappy with its response, and came to us. The 
investigation by our Joint Working Team found the nursing home at fault for not considering Elsie’s 
capacity properly. 

The nursing home had taken a generalised approach to assessing Elsie’s mental capacity and relied 
on the views of others. It had a responsibility to carry out its own decision-specific assessments, 
which should have been triggered by Elsie’s refusal of care and been done on a daily basis. 

We did acknowledge the nursing home had referred Elsie to the GP, who involved mental health 
services, and it raised a safeguarding alert. We found the council did not handle the safeguarding 
alert affectively.

The nursing home agreed to provide Elsie with £500 for her pain and distress and £250 to Jane for 
distress caused to her. It also agreed to complete an action plan to address its failings and provide 
us and Jane with copies. 

Page 117



The right to decide5

Pete’s story

Pete was in his forties when he suffered a stroke. When he left hospital, he was placed in a care 
home because he needed 24-hour support, but from the outset he told his social workers he wanted 
to live independently, with support.

Unfortunately his social workers made assumptions about his capacity to make decisions about 
where he wanted to live and about what property would be suitable for him, without carrying out the 
proper assessments. So Pete was left living in the care home for a long time. Throughout the time in 
the care home, Pete made repeated calls to be moved so he could live in the community.

It wasn’t until Pete changed social workers some years later, and his own psychologist challenged 
the previous social worker’s assumptions, that a proper capacity assessment was made. This 
assessment found Pete did have the capacity to decide where he wanted to live. And it was many 
months before he was found a suitable property.

Pete complained to us and we found social workers failed to consider properly Pete’s ability to make 
decisions until they made a proper capacity assessment and fundamentally failed to support him 
through the care planning process. 

Social workers delayed considering all the options available. By focusing solely on the belief Pete’s 
best option was extra care housing when none was available in his preferred area, they delayed 
finding appropriate accommodation for him. The investigation also found social workers missed 
numerous opportunities to assess Pete’s capacity at times when key decisions were made about his 
care and accommodation. 

To remedy the complaint we asked the council to apologise to Pete and pay him £2,000 to recognise 
the frustration and distress caused by the delays in carrying out mental capacity assessments and 
not considering fully all the options available to him. It also reviewed its practices to ensure that 
mental capacity assessments are carried out at the appropriate times and documented properly.

Page 118



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 6

Common Issues and Complaints
Delays in carrying out mental capacity assessments  

It is important that mental capacity assessments are carried out thoroughly, and the more serious 
or complex the decision, the more formal it should be. However, we have seen cases where 
unnecessary delay in the process has added to an already stressful situation for the people affected. 
Sometimes a delay in assessment could cause someone to receive the right treatment later than 
they should have.

Anna and Julian’s story

Anna’s uncle, Julian, had collapsed and was taken to hospital. A few weeks later, after a needs 
assessment, he was discharged to return home on a trial basis, with some support. 

Soon after returning home, carers raised concerns about Julian’s ability to manage. A social worker 
tried to visit Julian but he did not answer. With concerns about his welfare, the police had to force 
entry into Julian’s home and found him in a poor state. The council moved him to a care home. It 
could only find a placement in a different borough.

The council’s plan was to keep Julian in emergency respite care for only three weeks. But the case 
was found to be more complex than originally thought because Julian was found to need long term 
support. The case was transferred to different teams and also to different officers within teams when 
one allocated social worker had to go on leave. 

A mental capacity assessment found that Julian did not have capacity to decide his accommodation 
and care needs. It was finally decided that Julian’s needs would be best met in a care home near his 
friends and family. But Julian had spent 10 months away.

Our investigation found the council took too long to refer Julian to a qualified social worker, which 
held up completion of the mental capacity assessment, and it didn’t complete his support plan in 
good time. There was also a dispute between Julian’s GP and the local NHS Trust about who should 
carry out a psychiatric assessment, which added further delay but was not down to the actions of the 
council.  

The council’s delay added an extra two months onto the process. This left the uncertainty of not 
knowing whether, but for the delay, Julian might have moved back sooner to the area he knew near 
his family. The council agreed to pay Julian £200 for distress and lost opportunity.  It also agreed to 
apologise to Julian and his family.

Page 119



The right to decide7

Common Issues and Complaints
Poor ‘best interests’ decision making 

If a person lacks capacity to make a particular decision then whoever is making that decision, or 
taking any action on that person’s behalf, must do this in the person’s ‘best interests’. 

When deciding whether a decision is in someone’s best interests the decision makers must consider 
the person’s welfare in the broadest sense. This would include their past and present wishes and 
feelings together with relevant medical and social circumstances. If there is a conflict about what is 
in a person’s best interests and all attempts to resolve the dispute have failed, the Court of Protection 
might need to provide final arbitration.

Jaya and Mohan’s story

Jaya complained to us that her husband Mohan, who had dementia, was forced by social workers 
to move away into a care home, against his wishes and those of his family. 

Mohan had been diagnosed with dementia around two years earlier. He lived in the family home 
and attended a day centre once a week. As his health worsened, the police were called on several 
occasions when he began ‘wandering’.

The council moved him to a care home some 15 miles away. Jaya had to take two buses there and 
back when she went to visit him.  

Our investigation found the council decided Mohan had ‘no capacity to make decisions’ in meetings 
held to assess his care needs. But there was no indication that a mental capacity or a best interests 
assessment were carried out, as required by the law, despite Mohan being removed from his family 
home to a care home. 

The fault was compounded by the failure to carry out DoLS assessments when Jaya repeatedly 
asked that Mohan return home. The family were told the police would be called if Jaya tried to 
remove Mohan, and they were also never advised of their rights to appeal the council’s decisions 
through the Court of Protection. 

The council agreed to our recommendations to apologise to the family and pay them £750 for their 
distress, and time and trouble in pursuing their complaint. We also asked it to provide refresher 
training for social care staff on the Mental Capacity Act, best interests and DoLS assessments, plus 
the role of the Court of Protection. We said this may involve the council reviewing the status of other 
residents who may be deprived of their liberty without proper authorisation. 

Page 120



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 8

John and Hilary’s story

John complained about the way the council removed his mother, Hilary, from the family home 
without her consent and against the will of the family. 

Hilary had mobility and communication difficulties due to advanced Parkinson’s disease. A 
Community Matron raised concerns about the care provided to Hilary so a home visit took place 
with council staff. Hilary was found to be in urine soaked bedding and clothing, had not eaten so far 
that day and had drank limited fluids. After another visit the next day, the council decided she did not 
have capacity to make any decisions about her care needs. 

On the same evening, the Matron attended the home with police and ambulance staff to remove 
Hilary. John told her they could not do this without written confirmation that Hilary did not have 
capacity to make her own decisions. John asked his mother if she wanted to go to hospital and she 
said no. The Matron then rang the council to check the information about Hilary’s capacity. The 
council officer said Hilary ‘did not have capacity and she must be removed to a place of safety’.

In hospital, after various tests, it was discovered that there were no medical reasons for Hilary to be 
in hospital. 

A Mental Capacity Assessment carried about a month later found that Hilary did not have capacity to 
decide her future care plans. 

Our investigation found the council failed to consider ‘less restrictive’ options of establishing whether 
medical treatment was needed for Hilary, such as calling out her GP. It had also failed to establish 
that Hilary lacked capacity to make a decision about her care needs that day. It was known that her 
capacity fluctuated and not being able to communicate on the day the officers visited did not mean 
she lacked capacity. 

We also found that if the council had established Hilary lacked capacity to decide if she should 
stay at home, it still needed to follow the Mental Capacity Act and Code of Practice to make a best 
interests decision. This should have involved considering Hilary’s known wishes, consulting with 
those important to her and considering their views. 

We concluded that a vulnerable adult was forcibly removed from home in the evening with no prior 
warning, without consent and in the presence of police. This caused severe and avoidable distress 
and anxiety to Hilary and severe distress and outrage to her family. 

The council agreed to write to Hilary and her family to apologise for the injustice caused. It also 
agreed to pay £1,000 to Hilary for her distress. It also agreed to pay £600 for the family’s distress 
and also their time and trouble taken in complaining. 

Page 121



The right to decide9

Common Issues and Complaints
Disagreements with the process and involving families

Making best interests decisions for someone else can be an emotive subject. Sometimes family and 
friends affected may disagree with the decisions made, or with each other on what would be in the 
best interest for their loved one. 

Family members and close friends may be able to provide valuable background information but their 
wishes must not be substituted for a proper evidence-based assessment. 

In the following case, we highlight where a family didn’t agree with the process but the council had 
demonstrated good practice in following the correct law and guidance.

Helen and Richard’s story

Helen complained to us that the council failed to consider Richard, her father’s best interests when 
it decided to move him to a different care home. She said it did not consider properly the dynamics in 
Richard’s relationship with his wife. 

When Richard was first placed in a care home all his family used to visit. This included Helen and her 
brother and sister and also Richard’s wife. Richard settled in to the care home but said he missed his 
wife. Case notes also record conflict between the family members.

Richard’s wife was then admitted to a care home. This home had been the first choice for Richard but 
had no free beds at the time. The council asked the family for their views on moving Richard to the home 
in which his wife now resided. Richard’s son supported the move but Helen and her sister didn’t, on the 
grounds it would affect his health. 

The council also asked Richard. He was recorded as getting distressed at the thought of moving, but he 
also expressed a wish for his wife to be with him. It was not possible for Richard’s wife to move because 
he was in a nursing home and she did not need nursing care.

The council tried to get an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate involved. But this was refused as 
Richard had family members to advocate on his behalf.  It then allocated a social worker to carry out a 
mental capacity assessment. 

The social worker visited on three different occasions and Richard expressed a wish to be with his 
wife. Care home staff also confirmed this. Helen said he was expressing a wish to return home and he 
believed his wife was still at home. The officer found that it was not clear whether Richard understood the 
implications of moving to a different care home. It was decided Richard did not have capacity to decide 
whether he should move.

A best interests meeting was organised with family members invited. Information from other sources 
was also taken into account including from Richard’s GP. The meeting decided it was in Richard’s best 
interests to move to the same care home as his wife. 

With the family’s assistance, including Helen and her sister, Richard was moved to the same care home 
as his wife. Initially he was distressed but later visits by the council found he was settled and happy to be 
reunited with his wife. 

Although Helen disagreed it was in Richard’s best interests, our investigation found the council followed 
the code of practice set out in the Mental Capacity Act 2015 before coming to a decision to move 

Richard.

Page 122



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 10

Common Issues and Complaints
Delay in obtaining DoLS authorisations

Councils and care providers need to make sure that DoLS orders are in place at the right time. 
In many of the cases in which we find fault, there has been a significant delay in applying for an 
authorisation. It is unlawful for someone to be deprived of their liberty without an authorisation.

Mary and Graham’s story

Graham had severe dementia and used to be supported by his wife, Mary, at home. After a period 
of respite in a care home, Graham did not return home. Mary said he would have to come home as 
they could not afford the cost of his care.  

The care home manager contacted the council because he was worried that Mary would try to take 
Graham home. She had tried on one occasion, but Graham refused to leave with her. 

The council assessed Graham and agreed a DoLS order. However, this was some six months after 
the respite care began. 

Our investigation found that the care provider, which was acting on behalf of the council, should have 
applied for a DoLS order as soon as Graham became resident. This was because he always met the 
requirements for the order: he needed constant supervision; was unable to leave the care home of 
his own free will; and lacked the capacity to agree to these arrangements. 

It was clear that the care provider only thought about applying to the council for the DoLS order when 
Mary tried to remove Graham. The council failed to follow the Code of Practice because it did not tell 
Mary about the application or involve her in the decision. Family, friends and carers who know the 
person well should be consulted as part of the assessment process – they may have suggestions as 
to how someone can be supported without having to deprive them of their liberty.

Mary suffered the frustration and outrage of not being involved in decisions about her husband’s 
care. The council agreed to apologise to Mary and remind staff about the importance of involving 
family members in making best interests decisions.

Page 123



The right to decide11

Johanna’s story

Johanna moved into a care home. She was already suffering with early dementia and consequent 
memory problems. Her dementia continued to worsen until she lost capacity to make her own 
decisions about her future care.

However, it was not until a Care Quality Commission inspection some six years later, the care 
provider was alerted that some residents were being deprived of their liberty. It then applied to the 
council for a DoLS order for Johanna.

The council said because of the increase in DoLS applications following the Cheshire judgment, it 
used a risk assessment tool developed by the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services to 
assess Johanna’s priority, and concluded she was at low risk. It was around 10 months later that her 
case was allocated for DoLS assessment.

Johanna’s daughter complained to us and our investigation criticised the care provider for failing to 
make the DoLS application earlier. From the case records it was not possible to tell when Johanna’s 
condition had deteriorated to the point where the provider should have applied for the authorisation. 
However, it clearly had deprived Johanna of her liberty without the proper safeguards in place. In 
addition, neither the provider nor the council had informed Johanna’s daughter, the next of kin, that a 
DoLS request had been made.  

We also found fault with the council for failing to assess Johanna within the prescribed timescales, 
but noted it had taken a risk-based approach to assess the urgency of her assessment. 

The council agreed to pay a small financial payment to Johanna’s daughter, who had complained, to 
work with the care provider to address faults, and to share the lessons learned with its DoLS team.

Page 124



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 12

Common Issues and Complaints
Carrying out full assessment before applying for DoLS order 

Six assessments have to take place before a DoLS authorisation can be given, although the most 
important of these is the “best interests” assessment.

1. An age assessment, to make sure you are aged 18 or over.

2. A mental health assessment to confirm that you have been diagnosed with a ‘mental disorder’ 
within the meaning of the Mental Health Act.

3. A mental capacity assessment to see whether you have capacity to decide where your 
accommodation should be. If you have, you should not be deprived of your liberty and the 
authorisation procedure should not go ahead.

4. A best interests assessment to see whether you are being, or are going to be, deprived of your 
liberty and whether it is in your best interests. This should take account of your values and any 
views you have expressed in the past, and the views of your friends, family, informal carers and 
any professionals involved in your care.

5. An eligibility assessment to confirm you are not detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 or 
subject to a requirement that would conflict with the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. This 
includes being required to live somewhere else under Mental Health Act guardianship.

6. A ‘no refusals’ assessment to make sure that the deprivation of liberty does not conflict with any 
advance decision you have made about your care, or the decision of an attorney under a lasting 
power of attorney or a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection.

Page 125



The right to decide13

Felix’s story

Felix was a 72 year old man with alcohol-related dementia. He had been held in a care home on a 
supervision order after being assessed as lacking capacity to plead in a criminal case for burglary.   

At the end of the supervision order, the care home applied for a DoLS authorisation. Felix wanted to leave the 
home and return to his home town, where he had not lived for 20 years. A section 12 doctor (a psychiatrist 
who specialises in the diagnosis of mental disorders) agreed with the DoLS authorisation for three months. 

Towards the end of the authorised period, a social worker undertook a best interests assessment of 
Felix. The social worker conducted two detailed assessment interviews with Felix, some days apart. 
He also sought evidence from care home staff and management, from the section 12 doctor, from a 
senior social worker who had known Felix for many years, and from Felix’s advocate. 

He took into account results from a recent Memory Nurse’s test which showed “dramatic decline” 
in Felix’s cognition. Everyone he consulted agreed that the DoLS authorisation was required, to 
safeguard Felix. The social worker said Felix would be at serious risk of neglect, malnutrition, 
dehydration and inability to manage his alcohol intake if he left the care home. He believed Felix 
would be “exposed to unacceptable risks and his life would be endangered” and that he did not have 
capacity to make decisions about his future accommodation and care.  

The DoLS authorisation was granted, but Felix’s advocate asked for the matter to be referred to the 
Court of Protection because Felix was very keen to leave the home, and insisted he could manage 
independent living. Before the case went to Court, Felix was also diagnosed with Alzheimer’s and 
prescribed drugs to treat it. A psychiatrist who assessed Felix for the Court proceedings concluded 
that Felix did then have capacity to make his own decisions about his future accommodation.  

Solicitors complained on Felix’s behalf that the council should have conducted a more forensic 
assessment of Felix’s capacity when it first applied for a DoLS authorisation. They said the best 
interests assessment conducted by the social worker had been inadequate, a psychiatrist should 
have undertaken the assessment, and Felix had been unlawfully deprived of his liberty from that 
point on. 

Our investigation found the best interests assessment had been undertaken in accordance with the 
guidance and there was no evidence to suggest the social worker had failed to take into account 
any relevant information. The capacity assessment had been time- and decision-specific; and had 
considered how Felix could understand, retain and weigh up the information which he needed to 
make a decision. We did not find fault with the way the council acted.  

In making best interests decisions, there can be disagreement between family members over 
the outcome. In the following case, the representatives of the complainant believed he had been 
unlawfully denied his liberty, but our investigation found the council had followed good practice and 
carried out a full and comprehensive assessment of capacity before applying for its DoLS order.

Page 126



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 14

Good Practice: Getting it right first time
From our investigations we have developed the following good practice points:

 > Carry out a proper mental capacity test where it appears that an individual is consistently 
making decisions not in their best interest. Follow Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice and 
ensure reasoning is well evidenced

 >  Ensure best interest assessments are properly carried out. For example:

 >  Rely on up-to-date information 

 >  Involve the relevant person’s representative (RPR) to ascertain past and present wishes 
and feelings 

 > Involve views of family members and those affected

 >  Consider the ‘least restrictive’ option when care planning for a person who lacks capacity

 >  Involve an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate where there are family disputes 

 >  Ensure there is no unnecessary delay in carrying out mental capacity assessments DoLS 
authorisations 

 >  Obtain a DoLS authorisation where relatives or friends are being banned from visiting the 
person affected in a care home

 >  Do not use locked doors or restrictive measures to stop an individual leaving a home or hospital without 
a DoLS authorisation being in place

Page 127



The right to decide15

Questions for scrutiny
Councils and all other bodies providing local public services should be accountable to the people 
who use them.

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman was established by Parliament to support 
this. We recommend a number of key questions that councillors, who have a democratic mandate to 
scrutinise the way councils carry out their functions, can consider asking.

How does your authority:

 > follow the Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice when working with people who may lack 
capacity to make decisions?

 >  ensure that ‘best interests’ assessments involve the family members or other people affected?

 >  deal with and prioritise Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) applications to ensure there 
are no people who may informally be having their freedom restricted?

 >  monitor the use of ‘locked door’ settings and ensure DoLS applications are in place for all 
cases?     

 >  learn from the outcomes of complaints to improve services, and share this with the public?

 >  use the Ombudsman’s reports and decisions to develop its own policy and practice?

Page 128



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 16

The role of the Ombudsman
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman investigates unresolved complaints about councils 
and other bodies providing local public services; and all adult registered adult social care providers. 
This includes any adult social care regardless of whether it is arranged or funded privately or through 
the council. 

We share the learning from our complaints to help improve local public, and adult social care, 
services.

We are a free service. We investigate complaints in a fair and independent way - we do not take 
sides.

If we find something wrong, we make recommendations for the council or care provider to take action 
to put it right. What we ask the council to do will depend on the particular complaint, how serious the 
fault was and how the person was affected.

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost always do.

Some of the things we might ask a service provider to do are:

 > apologise

 >  pay a financial remedy

 >  improve its procedures so similar problems do not happen again

Investigating complaints about health and social care

We are the Ombudsman for any type of adult social care complaint and the Parliamentary and Health 
Service Ombudsman has jurisdiction for complaints about health services.

People may have a complaint about services provided by both health and social care organisations. 
Instead of having to complain to both ombudsmen, we have a Joint Working Team that can 
investigate these issues together.

This gives the public:

 >  a single investigator who can look at the whole case from all angles

 > a quicker and more focused investigation

It also means the different organisations being investigated only have to deal with a single point of 
contact

Page 129



The right to decide17

The “Bournewood gap”

The origins of the present 
Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards lay in what 
came to be known as the 
Bournewood case. In 1997, Mr 
HL - a severely autistic, non-
verbal, man – was admitted 
to Bournewood psychiatric 
hospital after he self-harmed 
at his day centre. Medical staff 
couldn’t decide whether his 
symptoms were behavioural 
or indicative of a mental 
illness, so he was admitted 
for ‘observation’. He was not 
discharged until four months 
later, when his carers said he 
looked like a concentration 
camp victim. 

His carers began legal action 
while Mr HL was still in hospital. 
The Court of Appeal agreed 
that the failure of statutory 
provisions for compliant, 
incapacitated patients was an 
“indefensible gap in our mental 
health law”. However, the legal 
case was not finally concluded 
until 2004, when the European 
Court of Human Rights ruled 
that Mr HL had been deprived 
of his right to liberty, because 
he had been held “in his best 
interests” - not under the 
protection of a section of the 
Mental Health Act, against 
which there were appeal rights, 
but under a common law 
doctrine of “necessity”. 

The phrase “Bournewood gap” 
was coined to describe the 
position of service-users like 
Mr HL, who were not allowed 
to leave their care setting, 

who could not give consent to 
treatment but who did not object 
to hospital admission, and so 
did not prompt the use of a 
detention section of the Mental 
Health Act. 

The “Cheshire West” 
judgment

In 2014, a Supreme Court 
judgment held that the “acid 
test” of whether someone was 
deprived of their liberty was 
if they lacked the capacity 
to consent to their care or 
treatment arrangements, were 
under continuous supervision 
and control, and were not free 
to leave. All three elements had 
to be in place to constitute a 
deprivation of liberty. 

That ruling overturned previous 
judgments which had defined 
deprivation of liberty more 
restrictively. The Court now said 
that a person’s lack of objection 
to their placement, the purpose 
of it or the extent to which it 
enabled them to live a relatively 
normal life for someone with 
their level of disability, were all 
irrelevant to whether they were 
deprived of their liberty. 

The rise in DoLS 
applications

The outcome of the 2014 
ruling was a significant rise 
in the number of cases, 
particularly in care homes, 
where residents were now 
deemed to be deprived of their 
liberty – perhaps because (in 
the interests of their own safety) 

they were not allowed out of the 
home on their own, or doors 
were locked to prevent them 
wandering. 

Councils have since struggled 
to keep up with the additional 
burden placed on them 
following the ruling. In the 
meantime, the Association 
of Directors of Adult Social 
Services has advised councils 
to use a streamlined approach 
of desktop assessments to 
complete deprivation of liberty 
cases triaged as ‘low priority’ 
in a bid to clear the backlog of 
referrals. 

The Future of DoLS

The Law Commission 
published a draft Bill on 13 
March 2017 setting out its 
recommendations for the 
replacement of the Deprivation 
of Liberty Safeguards and other 
significant amendments to the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005.

The proposal for Liberty 
Protection Safeguards (LPS) is 
considered to be less onerous 
than DoLS while still offering 
human rights protections.

Some of the key points of the 
LPS are that they would apply 
to any setting; cover 16 and 17 
year olds; introduce a simplified 
best interest assessment; 
extend the responsibility for 
giving authorisations to the 
NHS and have a two-tier 
authorisations process.

 

Annex: context of the DoLS landscape

Page 130



Towards a greater understanding of mental capacity and deprivation of liberty 18Page 131



Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry
CV4 0EH

Phone: 0300 061 0614
Web:  www.lgo.org.uk
Twitter: @LGOmbudsman

Page 132



Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 20 March 2018

REPORT TITLE: Review of draft Quality Accounts - May 
2018

REPORT OF: Chair of the Committee – 
Cllr Julie McManus

REPORT SUMMARY
Providers of NHS healthcare services in England, including the independent sector, 
are required to publish an annual Quality Account. The Quality Account provides 
information on performance across the year and identifies the priorities for 
improvement during the forthcoming year; describing how those priorities will be 
achieved and measured. The purpose of Quality Accounts is to ensure providers are 
assessing the quality of service they provide and working to continuously improve 
this, focussing particularly on: 

 Patient Experience; 
 Safety; 
 and Clinical Effectiveness. 

For those Trusts providing services within the geographical area of the Local 
Authority, Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees are given the opportunity to 
comment on the Trusts’ draft Quality Accounts, prior to publication of the final 
document. This report proposes a process for Members to provide comments on the 
2017/18 draft documents if they wish to do so.

Although the Health Trusts have a duty to consult with Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees regarding the draft Quality Account, it is not mandatory for the 
Committee to formally respond. However, in order to hold health providers to 
account, to do so is regarded as good practice. 

RECOMMENDATION/S
Members are requested to:

1) Establish a task & finish group in order to enable scrutiny members to review 
the draft Quality Accounts of the local health partners; 

2) Authorise the task & finish group Chair to approve the final wording of the 
responses to the Health Trusts.  

Page 133

Agenda Item 12



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
In order to hold health providers to account, it is regarded as good practice for 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees to review and comment upon draft 
Quality Accounts.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Not applicable 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Legislative Process
Under the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 
(amended by The National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Amendment 
Regulations 2012) healthcare providers publishing Quality Accounts are 
required to send a draft of the Quality Account to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee of the local authority in whose area the provider has its registered 
or principal office located, and invite comments on the document. 

Providers must send their Quality Account to the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee by 30 April each year at the latest. The Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee then has a maximum of 30 days in which to respond. 
The Department of Health requires providers to submit their final Quality 
Account by 30 June each year. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may, if it wishes, provide a written 
statement outlining its views on the draft document. Providers are legally 
obliged to publish this statement, of less than 1000 words, as part of their 
final Quality Account. 

3.2      Review of the draft Quality Accounts in Wirral
In recent municipal years, the Health and Care Performance Panel has taken 
on the responsibility of responding to the draft Quality Accounts, on behalf of 
the former People Overview & Scrutiny Committee (and previously the 
Families and Wellbeing Policy & Performance Committee). However, since the 
creation of the Adult Care and Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee at the 
beginning of the 2017/18 municipal year, the Health and Care Performance 
Panel ceased to exist. Therefore, if members want to review the draft Quality 
Accounts this year, an alternative approach will need to be adopted. It is 
proposed that a task & finish group is established for the purpose of reviewing 
the draft Quality Accounts. It is suggested that a single meeting of the task and 
finish group is arranged in early May 2018, most likely week commencing 7th 
May,  in order to review the draft Quality Accounts for each of the health 
service providers. It is necessary for any meetings to be held at this time in 
order to fit in with the timescales of the providers as they aim for final 
submission to the Department of Health before the end of June.  

Page 134



There are four main NHS Trusts which serve Wirral residents: 
 Wirral Community Foundation Trust;
 Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust;
 Clatterbridge Cancer Centre NHS Foundation Trust;
 Wirral University Teaching Hospital Foundation Trust;

It is planned that a representative from each of those partner 
organisations will be present at the meeting to highlight key points and 
discuss relevant issues. Members will review each of the draft Quality 
Accounts and identify comments which will be included in the formal 
response to each of the Health Trusts. Any comments submitted by 
the Panel must be included by the Health Trust in the final version of 
the Quality Account, which is presented to the Department of Health. 
In order to meet the strict timescales, it is proposed that the task and 
finish group Chair be authorised to approve the final wording of any 
responses.  

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
There are no direct financial implications of this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Although the health trusts have a duty to consult with Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees regarding the draft Quality Account, it is not mandatory for the 
Committee to formally respond. However, to do so would be regarded as 
good practice. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
This process will be supported from within existing resources

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

The Local Authority should put an appropriate process in place in order to 
support its role as an effective scrutineer of local health provision.   

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
Not applicable

Page 135



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct equality implications arising from this report. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Alan Veitch
Scrutiny Officer
telephone:  0151 691 8564
email:   alanveitch@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 136

mailto:alanveitch@wirral.gov.uk


Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 20 March 2018

REPORT TITLE: Adult Care and Health Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee - Work programme 
update report

REPORT OF: Chair of the Committee –
Cllr Julie McManus 

REPORT SUMMARY
The Adult Care and Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee, in cooperation with the 
other three Overview & Scrutiny Committees, is responsible for proposing and 
delivering an annual scrutiny work programme. This work programme should align 
with the corporate priorities of the Council, in particular the delivery of the Wirral Plan 
pledges which are within the remit of the Committee. 
   
The report provides an update regarding progress made since the last Committee 
meeting held on 30th January. The current work programme is made up of a 
combination of scrutiny reviews, workshops, standing items and requested officer 
reports. This update report provides the committee with an opportunity to plan and 
regularly review its work across the municipal year. The current work programme for 
the Committee is attached as an appendix to this report. 

RECOMMENDATION/S
Members are requested to:

1. Note the updated Adult Care and Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
work programme for 2017/18 and make any required amendments. 

Page 137

Agenda Item 13



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
To ensure members of the Adult Care and Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee have the opportunity to contribute to the delivery of the annual 
work programme.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Not Applicable

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 UPDATE ON CURRENT SCRUTINY ACTIVITY 
Since the Committee meeting on 30th January 2018, activity has taken place 
relating to the following:

Respite Services Scrutiny Review
This task & finish review was initiated in order to assess users’ experiences of 
alternative respite provision following the decision to close Girtrell Court. 
There has been some delay in the review in order to give service users and 
families / carers an opportunity to make use of the new service provision at 
Tollemache Road before being approached for feedback. Further work now 
needs to take place as soon as possible in order to complete this review. A 
questionnaire is being developed which will be used to assess the satisfaction 
of service users and families / carers towards the new service provision and 
the process of transition to that service. Subsequently, focus groups with a 
number of families / carers and service users will be held. 

Continuing Healthcare funding (CHC) scrutiny review 
NHS continuing healthcare (CHC) is the name given to a package of care that 
is arranged and funded solely by the NHS for individuals who are not in 
hospital and have been assessed as having a "primary health need". 
Members of the former People Overview & Scrutiny Committee previously 
approved the establishment of a task & finish group to consider the 
accessibility and operation of the scheme for residents in Wirral. Further 
meetings have taken place and a final evidence-gathering session is due to 
take place on 9th March 2018 when the members will meet with clients who 
have first-hand experience of the system. A wrap-up meeting will then be 
arranged with the report from the task & finish group being finalised before the 
start of the new municipal year.   

Five Year Forward View – Update
An additional committee meeting was held on Tuesday 13th February during 
which members received a progress report regarding the local delivery of the 
Five Year Forward View. The session was led by Mel Pickup (Partnership 
Lead, Cheshire & Merseyside Health and Care) and Andrew Gibson (Chair, 
Cheshire and Merseyside Five Year Forward View). It is proposed that a 
further update will be presented to members early in the new municipal year. 

Page 138



Urgent Care Review – Spotlight session
A Spotlight session was held on 21st February 2018 at which Wirral Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) provided members with background information 
relating to a forthcoming review of Urgent Care services in the borough. Wirral 
CCG will be developing potential options for future service delivery which are 
expected to be subject to full public consultation during the summer of 2018. It 
is anticipated that, at that time, a report will be presented to a meeting of the 
Adult Care and Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

Universal Credit 
Led by the Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee, two workshops have 
been held recently to investigate the implications of implementing Universal 
Credit. As this topic cuts across the remit of all four O&S Committees due to 
the wide-ranging impact affecting a number of service delivery areas, 
members of all four scrutiny committees were invited to participate. It is 
anticipated that a report from the workshops will be presented to the next 
meeting of the Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee, scheduled to be 
held on Tuesday 27th March. 

3.2 FORTHCOMING ACTIVITIES 

Review of draft Quality Accounts
Providers of NHS healthcare services in England are required to publish an 
annual Quality Account. The Quality Account provides information on 
performance across the year and identifies the priorities for improvement 
during the forthcoming year. Members of the Adult Care and Health Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee have an opportunity to review the draft documents and 
provide formal comments to each of the health partners. In order to fit with the 
national timetable, if Members agree to participate this year, this activity will 
have to take place during the first half of May. A separate report, which 
outlines a potential process, is included as a separate agenda item for this 
Committee meeting. 

 
4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Not Applicable

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
Not Applicable

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
The delivery of the scrutiny work programme will be met from within existing 
resources. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
Not Applicable

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
Not Applicable

Page 139



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality 
implications. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Alan Veitch
Scrutiny Support
0151 691 8564
email:  alanveitch@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES: 
Appendix 1: Adult Care and Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee – Work 

programme 

REFERENCE MATERIAL - SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 140

mailto:alanveitch@wirral.gov.uk


Page 1 of 4

ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (As at 27/02/2018)
WORK PROGRAMME 

PROPOSED AGENDA ITEMS – Tues 20th March 2018
Item Format Officer
Minutes from Adult Care & Health OSC 
(30th January and (13th February) 

Minutes

Repeat prescription pilot scheme – 
progress with rollout including patient 
feedback (as agreed by Adult Care & 
Health OSC, 28/06/17)

Report Susan Maire (Wirral CCG)

Phlebotomy service – update on 
progress post-service reconfiguration

Report Wirral CCG

Future commissioning strategy for 
people with disabilities

Report Jason Oxley

Thorn Heys Verbal Update Suzanne Edwards

Financial Monitoring – 2017/18 Q3 Report / Presentation Andrew Roberts to provide 
report

Performance monitoring – 2017/18 Q3 Report Nancy Clarkson to provide 
report

Eastham Walk In Centre - Update Report or verbal 
update

Val McGee (Wirral Community 
Trust)

Response to the Ombudsman’s Report 
relating to the Mental Capacity Act

Possible Report Graham Hodkinson / Simon 
Garner

Review of draft Quality Accounts – 
develop approach and create task & 
finish group

Report Report of the Chair (Alan Veitch 
to provide report)

Work programme update Report Report of the Chair (Alan Veitch 
to provide report)

Deadline for reports to be with Committee Services: Monday 5th March 2018

Page 141



Page 2 of 4

ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS – WAITING TO BE SCHEDULED
Item Format Approximate 

timescale 
Lead Departmental 
Officer  

Re-provision of respite services – 
report from task & finish group

Report June 2018 Report from the task & 
finish group (Alan 
Veitch to provide 
report)

Continuing HealthCare  – report from 
task & finish group

Report June 2018 Report from the task & 
finish group (Alan 
Veitch to provide 
report)

Draft Commissioning Strategy Report June 2018 Nesta Hawker (Wirral 
CCG)

Urgent Care Review Too soon for a 
report to be 
presented at 
March’s 
Committee.

To be agreed Suggested by Anna 
Rigby, Wirral CCG

Five Year Forward View Follow-up 
report

To be agreed

Musculoskeletal (MSK) Service Possible 
Report

To be agreed Suggested by Sue 
Borrington, Wirral CCG

Drug use in Wirral (as agreed by Adult 
Care & Health OSC, 28/06/17) 

Report To be agreed Julie Webster

Page 142



Page 3 of 4

WORK PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE COMMITTEE 
Item Format Timescale Lead 

Department
al Officer  

Progress / Comments

Task and Finish work

Re-provision of respite services 
–  a check on service users’ 
experiences

Task & finish 
group

To 
commence 
Feb 2017 
(Ongoing)

Graham 
Hodkinson/ 
Jayne 
Marshall

Aim to complete by end 
of 2017 / 18 municipal 
year

Continuing Healthcare Funding Task & finish 
group 

To 
commence 
June 2017 
(Ongoing)

Jason Oxley This work will be in 
partnership with 
Healthwatch Wirral. 
Aim to complete by end 
of 2017 / 18 municipal 
year. 

Spotlight sessions / workshops

All-age Disabilities and Mental 
Health transformation project 

Workshop 2nd August 
2017

Graham 
Hodkinson / 
Jason Oxley

Joint workshop with 
members of Children & 
Families OSC. Complete

Structure of the NHS, the 
interface with national policy, 
current challenges and future 
priorities

Spotlight / 
development 
session

12th 
October 
2017

Simon 
Banks, 
Wirral CCG

Complete

Specialist Transport Workshop To be 
agreed

Julie Barnes Potential joint workshop 
with members of Children 
& Families OSC

Urgent Care Review Workshop 21st Feb 
2018

Simon 
Banks 

Complete

Single Commissioning 
arrangements

Workshop To be 
agreed

Graham 
Hodkinson

Workforce issues in the care 
home sector

Possible 
workshop

To be 
agreed

Jacqui 
Evans

Corporate scrutiny / Other

Transformation Programme – 
business cases

Workshop As and 
when 
required

Budget scrutiny 2018 / 19 Workshop 9th January  
2018

Complete

Review of draft Quality 
Accounts

Likely task & 
finish group

May 2018

Page 143



Page 4 of 4

FORMER HEALTH & CARE PERFORMANCE PANEL 
OUTSTANDING WORK PROGRAMME ITEMS (For information only) 

Item Format Timescale Lead 
Departmental 
Officer  

Quality framework and performance 
measures for the health sector in 
Wirral

Report Standing Item Lorna Quigley

Suicide – Follow-up report Report April 2017 - 
Deferred

Lorna Quigley

Care Home strategy Report To be agreed Jacqui Evans
Care-related levels of bad debt and 
barriers to recovery 

Report To be agreed Viv O’Leary

CQC ratings across care homes in 
Wirral, including regional and 
national comparators being provided.

Report To be agreed Jacqui Evans / 
Amanda Kelly

Safeguarding arrangements in care 
homes (as proposed at People OSC 
on 23/03/17)

Report To be agreed Jacqui Evans / 
Amanda Kelly

Page 144


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 13/02/2018 Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	Minutes


	4 Independent Review of the Wirral Patient Led Repeat Ordering
	HealthwatchWIR_Report_v12
	healthwatch_PatientComments_Practices (3)

	5 Community Phlebotomy Service Update
	6 Future Commissioning Strategy for People with Disabilities
	OSC LD Commissioning 200318 App 1 - All Age Disability Strategy

	8 Financial Monitoring Report Quarter 3 2017/18
	9 2017/18 Quarter 3 Wirral Plan and Health and Care Performance
	Appendix 1 for 2017/18 Quarter 3 Wirral Plan and Health and Care Performance
	Appendix 2 for 2017/18 Quarter 3 Wirral Plan and Health and Care Performance

	10 Eastham Walk In Centre - Update
	11 Response to the Ombudsman's Report relating to the Mental Capacity Act
	Ombudsman MCA Response 200318 App 1 - DoLS MCA

	12 Review of draft Quality Accounts - May 2018
	13 Adult Care and Health OSC - Work programme update report
	Enc. 1 for Adult Care and Health OSC - Work programme update report


